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THE EMPEROR DOMITIAN

Domitian, Emperor of Rome AD 81-96, has traditionally been
portrayed as a tyrant and his later years on the throne as a ‘reign of
terror’, with his death bringing a restoration of liberty and
inaugurating the glorious rule of the ‘five good emperors’. It is less
well known that he was an able, meticulous administrator, a
reformer of the economy, with a building programme designed to
ensure that Rome not only was the capital of the world but looked it
as well.

Brian Jones’s biography of the emperor, the first ever in English
and the first in any language for nearly a century, offers a balanced
interpretation of the life of Domitian. In taking into account recent
scholarship and new epigraphic and archaeological discoveries, The
Emperor Domitian proposes that Domitian was a ruthless but
efficient autocrat with a sound foreign policy, and rejects the
traditional view that dismisses him as a vicious tyrant. His harshness
was felt by a comparatively minute, but highly vocal section of the
population, who included those who wrote the history of his reign.
Brian Jones argues that his relationship with the court rather than
with the senate is central to understanding his policies and in
explaining his reputation. The book further challenges many of the
assumptions concerning Domitian’s connection with the persecution
of the early Christians.

Domitian remains one of the most important and intriguing of
the Roman rulers. Roman historians will have to take account of
this new biography which in part represents a rehabilitation of
Domitian.
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PREFACE

Stéphane Gsell’s biography of the emperor Domitian appeared
almost a century ago. So another should not be regarded as
premature and needs no apology, unfashionable though biographies
may well be.

Impetus for a new one comes from the additional evidence now
available: the mass of epigraphic and archaeological material
discovered since 1894 provides a solid basis for a broader and more
detailed picture of the period. Substantial gains have been made in
the past hundred years: the consular lists for the period 81 to 96 are
now all but complete, whilst the names and careers of many more
senators and provincial officials have been revealed. We have been
made aware of the fact that Domitian was responsible for the
demolition of a full-sized legionary fortress in northern Scotland
erected only a few years before, and that some of his soldiers were
stationed far further to the east (at Baku) than was ever thought
possible. Studies by Birley, Blake, Buttrey, Eck, Syme and Waters
have provided new insights into the Flavian period, whilst Anderson,
Carradice, Jones, Rogers, Strobel, Vinson and Williams have all
recently discussed various aspects of his principate.

The traditional portrait of Domitian as a bloodthirsty tyrant has
not completely disappeared and still needs emendation. But, as well,
we must now take account of his reform of the coinage, his massive
building programme, his development of the ‘power set” within the
administration, his (rather than Trajan’s) admission of a substantial
number of easterners into the senate, his efforts to come to terms
with various groups within the senate—in brief, his achievements
were more substantial than Gsell realized.
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PREFACE

One important aspect of the reign demands study—the role of his
court and his relationship with his courtiers. For he spent most of his
time at his court, not in the senate; and he was assassinated by his
courtiers, not by his senators.

The abbreviations are those of L’Année philologique, with the
exception of those for frequently used ancient sources (Suetonius,
Tacitus and Pliny) whose works are abbreviated according to the
recommendations of OCD? (1970).

It would be an overwhelming task to list all those who have helped
me over the years in my work on Domitian. I can but offer them my
thanks. But I must express my gratitude to Mrs Penny Peel for her
preparation of the indexes and for her untiring efforts as my research
assistant: her sharp eye has saved me from many an error. Thanks
are also due to Professor Andrew Wallace-Hadrill for urging me to
consider the importance of Domitian’s court, and to both Mr Hugh
Lindsay and Mr Erik Estensen for the improvements they suggested
to parts of the text. Finally, I am indebted to the University of
Queensland and to the Australian Research Council: the book could
not have been completed without their support.

Brisbane, December 1990

viii



ABBREVIATIONS

AAN Atti della Accademia di Scienze Morali e
Politiche della Societa Nazionale di Scienze,
Napoli.

A Arch Hung  Acta Archaeologica Academiae Scientiarum
Hungaricae.

A Class Acta Classica.

AE L’Année épigraphique.

AFLN Annali della Facolta di Lettere e Filosofia dell’
Universita di Napoli.

AIESEE Association Internationale d’Etudes du
Sud-Est Européen.

AJA American journal of Archaeology.

AJAH American Journal of Ancient History.

AJPh American Journal of Philology.

ANRW Aufstieg und Niedergang der romischen Welt.

Arch N Archaeological News.

BAR British Archaeological Reports.

BCAC Bulletino della Commissione Archeologica
Communale in Roma.

BICS Bulletin of the Institute of Classical Studies of
the University of London.

BJ Bomnner Jabrbiicher des rheinischen

Landesmuseums in Bonn und des Vereins von
Altertumsfreunden im Rheinlande.

BMC Coins of the Roman Empire in the British
Museum.

CAH Cambridge Ancient History.

ix



CB

CE

CIL

CJ

Cl Ant
CPh

CcO

CR
CRDAC

cwW
DE
ECM
ES
HSCPh
ILS
IRT
JBL
JDAI

JHS

JRS
LCM
MAAR
MDAI(R)

MEFR

MH
NTS
OCD
P&P
PBA
PIR!

PIR?

ocC
R Bi
RE

ABBREVIATIONS

Classical Bulletin.

Chronique d’Egypte.

Corpus Inscriptionum Latinarum.

Classical Journal.

Classical Antiquity.

Classical Philology.

Classical Quarterly.

Classical Review.

Centra Ricerche e Documentazione

sull’ Antichita Classica.

Classical World.

Dizionario epigrafico di Antichita romane.
Echos du monde classique.

Epigraphische Studien.

Harvard Studies in Classical Philology.
Inscriptiones Latinae Selectae.

Inscriptions of Roman Tripolitania

Journal of Biblical Literature.

Jabrbuch des deutschen archdologischen
Instituts.

Journal of Hellenic Studies.

Journal of Roman Studies.

Liverpool Classical Monthly.

Memoirs of the American Academy in Rome.
Mitteilungen des deutschen archdologischen
Instituts (Rom. Abt.).

Mélanges d’archéologie et d’histoire de ’Ecole
Frangaise de Rome.

Museum Helveticum.

New Testament Studies.

Oxford Classical Dictionary.

Past and Present.

Proceedings of the British Academy.
Prosopographia Imperii Romani Saeculorum 1,
I, 111.

Prosopographia Imperii Romani Saeculorum 1,
I, 111.

Quaderni catanesi di studi classici e medievali.
Revue biblique.

Real-Encyklopaedie der classischen
Altertumswissenschaft.

X



REG
REL
RHD
RHPh
RIDA
RIL

RPAA

RSA
RSCI
RSR
SCI
TAPhA

TLS
ZA

ZPE
AN

ABBREVIATIONS

Revue des études grecques.

Revue des études latines.

Revue historique de droit francais et étranger.
RRevue d’histoire et de philosophie religieuses.
Revue Internationale des droits de Pantiquité.
Rendiconti dell’Istituto Lombardo, Classe
dilettere, scienze morali e storiche.
Rendiconti della Pontificia Accademia di
Archaeologia.

Rivista storica dell’ Antichita.

Rivista di storia della Chiesa in Italia.

Revue des sciences religieuses.

Scripta Classica Israelica.

Transactions of the American Philological
Association.

Times Literary Supplement.

Chr Vigiliae Christianae.

Ziva Antika.

Zeitschrift fiir Papyrologie und Epigraphik.
Zeitschrift der Savigny-Stiftung fiir
Rechisgeschichte.

xi






1
EARLY CAREER

FAMILY AND SOCIAL MOBILITY

Domitian was born in Rome on 24 October 51, the eleventh year of
Claudius’s reign. According to tradition (Dom. 1.1), the birth
occurred at the family home in Pomegranate Street (possibly the Via
delle Quatro Fontane) on the Quirinal Hill in the sixth Region. Later,
he converted it into a temple of the Gens Flavia, covered with marble
and gold,! and, when it was struck by lightning in 96, many
interpreted this as an indication of the emperor’s mortality (Dom.
15); on his death (18 September 96), his ashes and those of his niece
Julia were mingled and deposited there by Phyllis who had nursed
them both (Dom. 17).

Suetonius (Dom. 1.1) repeats various rumours about his boyhood
and early youth: such was his family’s poverty that there was no
silver plate, he had to sell himself to various senators, including the
future emperor Nerva. Even Suetonius does not vouch for the
accuracy of these tales and they can be safely discarded.

The family’s ‘poverty’ is a myth. On the contrary, one of the bases
for their upward mobility was wealth, just as it was an essential
ingredient for any would-be member of the new aristocracy in the
early empire, with influence and ability being the other relevant
factors. Needless to say, the Flavians and, in particular, Domitian’s
grandfather (Titus Flavius Sabinus), had (or acquired) all three.

His great-grandfather (T.Flavius Petro) had come from Reate
(Rieti), an Italian town in the Sabine territory on the Velino near
where the Via Salaria crossed the river. He had served in Pompey’s
army (possibly as a centurion) at Pharsalus where his military career
came to an inglorious end as he fled from the field of battle: on the
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EMPEROR DOMITIAN

other hand, the relationship between the Plautii and the Flavii, very
significant in their rise to imperial status, might well have begun
during this civil war, for one of Pompey’s officers at Pharsalus was
A.Plautius whose great-grandson of the same name (PIR! P 344)
was a patron of the Flavians—two of his three legions in Britain
during Claudius’s invasion were under the control of Petro’s
grandsons, Vespasian and his brother (Sabinus).

But Petro’s reverse was only temporary. He set about acquiring
what was one of the essentials for social and political success in
most societies and particularly so in this one—money: he became a
moneylender and married a wealthy wife. An ability to acquire
money and then to retain it were qualities he handed down to his
descendants. His wife Tertulla was extremely rich, owning estates at
the Etruscan coastal town of Cosa and it was here that Domitian’s
father Vespasian was brought up (AD 10-20). Fifty years later, the
family still owned it and Vespasian visited it regularly during his
reign. This was not the family’s only asset. There was a villa at Aquae
Cutiliae on the Via Salaria between Reate and Interocrea
(Antrodoco) where Vespasian spent every summer (Vesp. 24) and
where both he and Titus died; when the family acquired it is not
known. There were another three properties. Suetonius (Vesp. 2.1)
does not record the precise nature of their estate at Falacrina (also
on the Via Salaria, some 13 kilometres from Reate) where Vespasian
was born, nor whether Vespasian owned the houses in Rome where
Titus (Titus 1) and Domitian (Dom. 1.1) were born. Vespasian’s
‘poverty’ during the Julio-Claudian period was an invention of
Flavian propaganda of the early 70s, when the safest policy was to
mention as infrequently as possible the financial, social and political
successes of the Flavii during the reigns of emperors such as Gaius
and Nero.

Tertulla’s money and her husband’s financial acumen were passed
on to their descendants amongst whom was their very able son,
Domitian’s grandfather Titus Flavius Sabinus (Sabinus I). During
the early decades of the first century, he amassed considerable wealth
and possibly equestrian status from his posts of tax collector in Asia
and banker in Switzerland.> With the practical common sense of
most of the Flavii, he married well, with apparent increase in both
wealth and social status, for Vespasia Polla’s family was renowned
and ancient: Suetonius claims (Vesp. 1.3) to have seen many
monuments of the Vespasii not far from Nursia (Norcia), a mountain
town also in the Sabine country. As Sabinus I’s new brother-in-law
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EARLY CAREER

was a senator of praetorian rank and, presumably, a member of
Augustus’s senate, the Flavii had, within two generations, emerged
from comparative obscurity, and the change coincided with the rise
of a new aristocracy, as the old families disappeared in the series of
civil wars during the last decades of the Roman Republic.?

The third generation saw the family senatorial: Sabinus I’s wealth
was sufficient to ensure that both his sons (Sabinus IT and Vespasian)
had the financial prerequisite for a senatorial career—some HS
1,000,000 each.* So, before Sabinus I, the Flavians may well have
been ‘obscure and without family portraits’ (Vesp. 1.1), but, amongst
his seven direct male descendants, were numbered three emperors
and these seven between them amassed thirty-nine consulships.’

PATRONAGE
Antonia’s circle

In many societies, and especially in the early empire, social and
political advancement depended on access to influential patrons in
the aristocracy.® From marriages, the Flavii had acquired money
(Tertulla) and status (Vespasia). But it was through their patrons
that they gained access to the imperial court and to the honours that
followed therefrom.

During Tiberius’s reign (14-37), both Sabinus I’s sons were
granted senatorial rank. So their father had by then acquired not
only considerable wealth but also the advantages accruing from
powerful patrons; and whilst we can not be absolutely certain of
their identity, subsequent contacts made by Vespasian are suggestive.
It would seem that patronage came from four powerful and eminent
families (the Petronii, Pomponii, Plautii and Vitellii) who were linked
together not only by marriage ties and common interests, but also
by imperial patronage via Antonia Minor, daughter of Mark Antony
and mother of Germanicus and Claudius.

The links between the four families were long-standing.” Some
years before his consulship in 1 BC, an Aulus Plautius had married a
Vitellia—forty or more years later, Petronia, whose mother was a
Plautia, married the future emperor Vitellius. In the interval, the
families’ fortunes varied with those of Antonia and her sons. Observe
Publius Vitellius, the uncle of the future emperor, and the trusted
associate of Germanicus (comes Germanici: Vit. 2.3). Commander
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of two of his legions in 14 (Ann. 1.70), Vitellius led the struggle to
avenge his death (Ann. 3.10); and, in the period of Germanicus’s
greatest influence (16-19), four of the group attained the consulship.
But, with his death, all that changed and from 19 to 31 only two of
them were successful.® Sejanus’s fall in 31, however, represented
another turning-point and between 32 and 37, two Vitellii, a Plautius
and a Petronius became consuls; similarly, with the accession of
Antonia’s son Claudius, seven consulships were awarded to the
group in the first eight years of his reign.’

There is some evidence to explain the significance of Sejanus’s
death in boosting the families’ influence. When Antonia was
informed of the plot against Tiberius, she wrote a ‘full and accurate
account’ of it to Tiberius: ‘previously he had held Antonia in high
regard, but now he valued her even more and put full confidence in
her’ (A] 18.180-4). However accurate the tale, it reflects the
perception commonly held that Antonia’s™ influence with Tiberius
increased with Sejanus’s death and, with it, that of her circle.

At this same period, the Flavians acquired an even more direct
contact with the imperial family in the person of (Antonia) Caenis, '
secretary and freedwoman of Antonia and known to have been
Vespasian’s mistress both in his youth and in his old age (Vesp. 3).
Presumably, he met her when he was in his early twenties. A woman
of no mean ability, she had an important part in the events
surrounding Sejanus’s fall, for, according to Dio 60.14.1-2, it was to
her that Antonia dictated the letter to Tiberius about Sejanus.

At all times, access to the court was vital, since decisions were
effectively made there, not in the senate, and Vespasian acquired
such access through the able and influential Caenis. As shrewd in
selecting a mistress as his father and grandfather had been in their
choice of wives (observe three different reasons in three
generations—money [Tertulla], status [Vespasia] and influence
[Caenis]), Vespasian capitalized on the advantages gained by his
family’s patrons.

Ten years later, with the accession of Claudius, the Flavians’
patrons still retained their influence, as the evidence amply indicates.
Once emperor, he immediately chose their senior members as his
personal advisors—L.Vitellius for internal matters and A.Plautius
for the external. As well, Tacitus has L.Vitellius reminding Claudius
that not only were they both friends of long standing but also equally
devoted to his mother Antonia (Ann. 11.3). Just as decisive is the
evidence for Vespasian’s connection with the group: according to
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EARLY CAREER

one of the emperor Vitellius’s supporters, ‘Vespasian was a client of
a Vitellius when a Vitellius was a client of a Claudius’ (Hist. 3.66);
his first appointment to command a legion (in Germany) was due to
the influence of Claudius’s freedman Narcissus (Vesp. 4.1)—once
again, Vespasian was acute enough to maintain his contacts at court
(Caenis) and also to extend them (Narcissus); and when A.Plautius
was appointed commander of the invasion of Britain, he had, as two
of his three legionary commanders, Vespasian and his elder brother
Sabinus II.

Oriental group

Another group that helped the Flavians, especially during the Jewish
war and the seizure of power by Vespasian in 69, was the family and
friends of the Jewish king Julius Agrippa II, all of whom had close
links with members of the imperial family, especially Antonia.!®
Agrippa’s father (Agrippa I), who had been educated with Tiberius’s
son Drusus, ‘also won the friendship of Antonia,...for his mother
Berenice' ranked high among her friends and had requested her to
promote the son’s interest’ (A] 18.143); in Berenice’s will, one of her
freedmen, Protos, was left to Antonia (A] 18.156). Agrippa I was
chronically hard up, and, on one occasion, sought a substantial loan
from Antonia, who paid up ‘because she still remembered Berenice
his mother and because Agrippa had been brought up with Claudius
and his circle’ (A] 18.165). The friendship was extended to include
his son Agrippa II ‘who was brought up at the court of Claudius
Caesar’ (A] 19.360), and who, with his sister Berenice,"* was to
prove a loyal and valuable ally to Vespasian.

When war broke out in 66, Agrippa was at Alexandria with his
former brother-in-law Tiberius Julius Alexander,'® prefect of Egypt
and another member of the circle. Later (1 July 69), he was to be the
first military governor to declare for Vespasian, and, although
Vespasian’s predecessor Vitellius was destined to survive until
December 69, Vespasian officially dated his reign from Alexander’s
proclamation in Egypt. Agrippa immediately returned to Caesarea,
provided the Romans with auxiliaries (B] 3.68) and served with
them, being wounded at the siege of Gamala (BJ 4.14). Better
known, perhaps, is his sister Berenice, married (or promised) to
Marcus Julius Alexander (brother of Tiberius) and then to her uncle,
Herod of Chalcis by whom she had two sons, Berenicianus and
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EMPEROR DOMITIAN

Hyrcanus (A] 19.277; B] 2.217, 221). She would have been twenty
when he died c. 48. Subsequently, she returned to live with her
brother, but the scandal and notoriety caused by their alleged incest
(AJ 20.145) persuaded her to seek another husband. Polemo of
Cilicia found her money and charms irrestible (A] 20.146) and, in
his late thirties, even consented to be circumcised. The marriage was
brief and subsequently she became Titus’s mistress.!” Tacitus’s
introduction of her is memorable. Titus was obviously well aware of
her physical attractions, but his father was drawn to her wealth: ‘she
commended herself to the elderly Vespasian by the splendid gifts she
made him’ (Hist. 2.81).

So Agrippa II, Berenice and Alexander were all part of the
‘oriental group’ that supported the Flavians in 69. But the
relationship had been forged, almost certainly, far earlier, in the early
decades of the century when Sabinus I sought and found influential
patrons. Of considerable interest in this connexion is the father of
Marcus and Tiberius Julius Alexander, usually known as Alexander
the Alabarch (or Arabach: i.e. he was a senior customs official in the
Greek administration), and one of the few Jews resident in
Alexandria to hold ‘Greek’ citizenship; equally famous was his
brother Philo whose works have come down to us. Now, according
to Josephus, ‘Alexander surpassed all his fellow citizens in ancestry
and in wealth’ (A] 20.100); more importantly, he was also, ‘an old
friend of Claudius and looked after the interests of Claudius’s mother
Antonia’ (A] 19.276). Many imperial women owned property, so it
is not surprising that Antonia (daughter of Mark Antony) should
have estates in Egypt or that she should have an agent there to
protect her investment.'® Less obvious is her choice. Furthermore, it
is difficult to determine just when the arrangement began, but, since
one of Alexander’s sons was married in 41 whilst the other was
epistrategus of the Thebaid c. 42, his association with Antonia could
well have begun during the early part of Tiberius’s reign. So links are
attested between the elder Alexander and (a) Antonia (A] 19.276),
(b) Claudius (ibid.), (c) Agrippa I (A] 159-60: he tried to borrow
money from Alexander, but had less success than he was to have
with Antonia at AJ 18.165), (d) Agrippa II (his sister Berenice
married Alexander’s son Marcus), and (e) the Flavians (Alexander’s
other son Tiberius was the first military commander to declare for
Vespasian in 69, served as Titus’s deputy during the siege of
Jerusalem and may later have become praetorian prefect). Initially,
many of the links were economic—Alexander’s wealth attracted
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EARLY CAREER

Agrippa I, he kept an eye on Antonia’s Egyptian investments; when
Josephus introduces Alexander (A] 20.100) or Tacitus Berenice
(Hist. 2.81), they comment first on their subject’s wealth. Political
and social advantages follow; Alexander’s sons become Roman
citizens with one marrying eastern royalty, and the other gaining
high equestrian office in Rome and his descendants (e.g. Ti. Julius
Alexander Tulianus: PIR? J 142) attaining senatorial rank.

Statistics can be misleading, but to quantify Sabinus I’s success in
enhancing the family’s status, we might consider Suetonius’s
statement that, over a period of some 450 years, the Claudii claimed
twenty-eight consulships, five dictatorships, seven censorships, six
triumphs and two ovations (Tib. 1.2): in less than sixty years, the
Flavians numbered in their ranks three emperors who were awarded
fifty-nine ‘triumphs’ and thirty-four consulships. The only valid
conclusion to emerge from such an array of figures is that Sabinus’s
careful work paid dividends."

FLAVIANS AT COURT

Surviving evidence suggests that neither of Sabinus I’s sons had
spectacular early careers as senators.?’ Under Tiberius and Gaius,
both held the normal posts, though Vespasian’s first attempt to
become aedile ended in failure and, on his second, he scraped in last
(Vesp. 2.3): then his well-attested neglect of Rome’s streets when he
became aedile earned him Gaius’s ire and a mud-covered toga as
well (Vesp. 5.3; Dio. 59.12.3). Subsequent Flavian propaganda made
as little as possible of Flavian successes under the Julio-Claudians
whilst maximizing any achievements under acceptable (or less
disreputable) members of the family such as Claudius and
Britannicus. For Tiberius’s and most of Gaius’s reign, though, the
facts spoke for themselves.

There was a change in 39 and it involved another member of the
imperial family, Gaius’s sister the younger Agrippina. Despite the
fact that she was closely related to some of the Flavians’ strongest
supporters (child of Germanicus, niece of Claudius and grandchild
of Antonia), she now developed and subsequently maintained a
hostility to Vespasian that was at its strongest in Domitian’s early
years. In 39, she joined her current lover, Gaius’s nominated
successor Aemilius Lepidus (PIR? A 371), together with the legate of
Upper Germany Cornelius Lentulus Gaetulicus (PIR? C 1390) in
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EMPEROR DOMITIAN

planning to murder Gaius (Dio 59.22.6). He was warned, and,
shortly before 27 October 39,2 both Lepidus and Gaetulicus were
executed. Agrippina was fortunate to escape with her life, for there
was written evidence of her involvement (Gaius 24.3); but she was
publicly humiliated, being forced to carry her lover’s ashes to Rome
in person, and then was exiled. It was around the time of the
conspiracy that the praetorian elections for 40 were held and
Vespasian topped the poll. Suetonius hints (Vesp. 2.3) at his flattery
of Gaius. In fact, he was almost a spokesman for the regime,*
congratulating the emperor in speeches to the senate and adding to
the public humiliation of Agrippina by urging that Lepidus and
Gaetulicus ‘be cast out unburied’ (Vesp. 2.3). She did not forget the
insult. When she became Claudius’s fourth wife a decade later, not
long before Domitian’s birth, she did her best to ensure that
Vespasian suffered.”

Now, the accession of Claudius was a notable milestone in the
fortunes of Sabinus I’s descendants, for members of Antonia’s circle
became extremely influential and powerful. L.Vitellius was chosen
as the emperor’s close advisor and Aulus Plautius given charge of
the invasion of Britain. Within the royal palace, virtual control lay
in the hands of Pallas (PIR> A 858) who had been ‘the most
trustworthy of Antonia’s slaves’ (A] 18.182). Very powerful too was
another freedman, Narcissus (PIR> N 23)—L.Vitellius cherished the
images of Pallas and Narcissus with his household gods (Vit. 2.5)—
and Narcissus’s influence, according to Suetonius, Vesp. 4.1, secured
the British appointment for Vespasian. With such influence at court,
it is hardly surprising that the Flavians prospered; both Sabinus II
and Vespasian were granted consulships in this period and the family
may even have been raised to patrician status in 47.%

More remarkably, Vespasian’s first son, at the age of about 7,
was taken from his father’s house and educated at court® with
Claudius’s own son, an honour reserved for foreign princes such as
Agrippa, as has been noted—though occasionally other eminent
Italians (the emperor Otho’s grandfather and Marcus Aurelius) were
brought up at court.?® Titus and Claudius’s son Britannicus shared
the same teachers and the same curriculum (Titus 2), with obvious
political, social and even educational advantages for the future
emperor. When he returned from Britain, Vespasian must have been
welcome at court.

But, by the time of Domitian’s birth, the Flavians were less
influential at court. Once Messallina had been replaced by
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Agrippina, the group centred on Antonia became disunited: when
Claudius sought advice about a suitable replacement for his third
wife, some (e.g. Vitellius) favoured Agrippina and others (e.g.
Narcissus) Aelia Paetina.”” The victor showed little mercy to the
vanquished—the Plautii suffered most, with Aulus Plautius’s wife,
Pomponia Graecina, being charged with practising a foreign religion
(Ann. 13.32) and two other Plautii?® forced to commit suicide (Nero
35.4; Ann. 15.60). There were other indications of the group’s lack
of unity—Petronia and Aulus Vitellius (the later emperor) were
divorced and, at the same time, L.Vitellius died. For the Flavians, it
meant that Vespasian was no longer welcome at court.

This decline in his fortunes, coinciding as it did with the birth of
his younger son, has not infrequently been pressed into service to
provide an explanation of the differences in character, attitude and
personality between Titus (brought up in the imperial court) and
Domitian (raised in ‘poverty’). Such an explanation is unsatisfactory,
for much of the evidence is illusory. In the first place, there were
degrees of imperial displeasure, and so, when Cornelius Gallus fell
out of favour, he was invited to commit suicide (Dio 53.23-4),
whereas Vespasian’s son Titus remained at court, continuing his
education in close association with Britannicus until about 55, when
the latter was poisoned (Titus 2). It would be a mistake, then, to lay
too much stress on the decline in the family’s fortunes. Domitian’s
uncle remained as governor of Moesia, his father was still in Rome,
serving as a consular senator, his elder brother was still being
educated at court. It may have been a decline but was hardly a
disaster.

By the time of Domitian’s eighth birthday, the family’s fortunes
had fully recovered. The obvious explanation lies in the events of
March 59 when Agrippina was murdered by Nero. More than one
future emperor was to benefit by the removal of her influence. Galba,
for instance, had had an illustrious career between 33 and 47 with a
consulship, the command of Upper Germany, service with Claudius
in Britain and a proconsulship of Africa; then nothing (as far as we
know) for the next thirteen years until his appointment to Spain c.
60. The decline was due to his relationship—or rather lack of it—
with Agrippina. He had rejected her open advances to him; worse
still, once the story reached the ears of his mother-in-law, she is
reported to have abused Agrippina in public and then to have
slapped her face (Galba 5.1). Agrippina never forgot an insult, as
Vespasian discovered (Vesp. 4.2).
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He too prospered after 59, being appointed to the prestigious
proconsulship of Africa, whilst around this time his son-in-law
Petillius Cerialis was given command of legio IX in Britain. Imperial
favour was also bestowed on various friends and relatives of the
Flavii. In 61, Caesennius Paetus, married to Domitian’s first cousin
Flavia Sabina, was made one of the two ordinary consuls, the other
being the Flavian supporter P.Petronius Turpilianus,” whose
immediate family exemplifies very well the links between the
Petronii, Plautii, Pomponii and Vitellii that were so important in
enhancing the status of Sabinus I’s descendants. Turpilianus’s uncle
was Aulus Plautius who was the son of a Vitellia, had married a
Pomponia and had a sister (Plautia) married to a Petronius (i.e.
Turpilianus’s father).*® Again, Plautius Silvanus was sent to Moesia
at this period and not long afterwards, Barea Soranus, an attested
friend of Vespasian (Hist. 4.7), became proconsul of Asia (PIR* B
55).

Throughout Domitian’s early years and adolescence, the family’s
status remained high, but progress was most marked in the 60s. A
number of significant marriage alliances attest to it. Domitian’s
brother Titus, now in his mid-twenties, found a suitable wife in
Arrecina Tertulla and it seems that Domitian’s first cousin Sabinus
I had also married into the same family, selecting one of Arrecina’s
sisters.®® The Arrecini were an equestrian family of some
considerable significance, for the father Arrecinus Clemens had
been prefect of the praetorian guard under Gaius, with a son of
senatorial rank who was also to become praetorian prefect and then
hold two consulships and the prefecture of the city during the reigns
of his Flavian relatives.’> There were other advantages in the
connexion with the Arrecini. According to Suetonius (Vesp. 4.3), the
family of Vespasian experienced grave financial difficulties after his
African proconsulship, and, as a result, Vespasian was obliged to
mortgage his property to his brother Sabinus IT and to engage in the
trading of mules.?* This was approximately the time of Titus’s
marriage to Arrecina: presumably, it was economically
advantageous. Perhaps, too, this is the background to Suetonius’s
claim that Domitian’s early youth was spent in poverty (Dom. 1.1).
But the degree and duration of Vespasian’s poverty should not be
exaggerated, and it need not have been the only factor in Titus’s
marriage into a family with Flavian connexions already. A wife
whose father had been praetorian prefect was most suitable for the
offspring of consular senators.
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Unfortunately, Arrecina soon died and Titus sought a second wife.
Marcia Furnilla, daughter or niece of Vespasian’s amicus Barea
Soranus, was an excellent choice, with consular senators in her
father’s and mother’s family.>* In short, she was splendidi generis
(Vesp. 4.3). A final indication of Vespasian’s standing in the 60s is
his selection to accompany Nero on his tour of Greece (Vesp. 4.4).
Later, pro-Flavian sources made much of his alleged banishment ‘not
only from intimacy with the emperor but even from his public
receptions’ (4.4); his offence was either falling asleep during Nero’s
singing or else continually entering and leaving. Tacitus has a similar
story of Vespasianic behaviour, but it is set before his selection for
the Greek tour (Ann. 16.5), and one is entitled to doubt its accuracy.
He would hardly have been included if he had publicly offended
Nero.

Stress on banishment by Nero was essential to explain away the
fact that, when Nero needed an experienced general to deal with the
Jews in the winter of 66, he sent Vespasian with three legions; and if
Nero’s selection of Vespasian as commander-in-chief was surprising,
that of Titus, Traianus and Cerialis as his immediate subordinates,
legates of his three legions, was astonishing.?* First and foremost, it
was and remained unparalleled for the leader of an expeditionary
force to have his own son commanding one of his legions; yet Titus
was assigned to control legio XV. But he was not yet 30 and so was
still ineligible to stand for the praetorship, the usual (but not
inevitable) prerequisite for a legionary commander. His selection,
then, was doubly odd. Equally puzzling was the appointment of
Ulpius Traianus as legate of legio X. He was married to a Marcia,
the sister (so it seems)*® of Marcia Furnilla and thereby, for a time,
Titus’s brother-in-law. Sextus Vettulenus Cerialis, legate of legio V,
also had Flavian connexions: he was of Sabine origin and may even
have come from Vespasian’s home town, Reate. The almost
inescapable conclusion is that Vespasian had a completely free hand
in selecting his commanders. So, despite the fact that some of
Vespasian’s friends (Hist. 4.7) were connected with the Pisonian
conspiracy, Nero never doubted the Flavians’ loyalty. Very wisely,
Titus had divorced Marcia Furnilla at the first sign of trouble. But
despots are suspicious: Corbulo had recently been invited to commit
suicide. Not so with the Flavians. Soon after the suppression of the
Pisonian conspiracy, Vespasian was given command of an army that
was finally to number 60,000 men (BJ 3.66-9) and allowed to
appoint his own subordinates, and this when his brother Sabinus I
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was virtually in control of Rome in his role of city prefect in the
emperor’s absence from the capital. It is hardly remarkable that
historians writing during Vespasian’s principate stressed the slightest
hint of Flavian disgrace in the previous reign or invented one if none
existed: so Vespasian was covered in mud by Gaius, fell asleep when
Nero sang and was banished; Titus was born in a mean house (Titus
1) and Domitian spent his early years in such poverty that he had to
sell himself to survive.

EDUCATION

So Vespasian’s periods of temporary financial and political
embarrassment should be seen in the proper light. He did not neglect
his younger son’s education, even though he was not brought up at
court as Titus was (Titus 2). His later literary efforts, whatever their
worth as literature, are proof enough of Vespasian’s concern. He
gave public recitals of his works (Dom. 2.2) and had had the
standard training in rhetoric to judge by his performance in a
turbulent senate in January 69, at the age of 18, when his father and
brother were still in the east and senatorial feeling were running
high: even Tacitus had to describe his speech as ‘brief and restrained’,
noting, at the same time, his ability to field awkward questions (Hist.
4.40). He had, at least, been taken through the standard authors:
Suetonius attests to his ability to quote Homer (Dom. 12.3 and 18.2)
and Vergil (Dom. 9.1) on appropriate occasions. Despite Suetonius’s
comment (Dom. 20) that Domitian never bothered to become
familiar with poetry, we have definite evidence that he wrote poetry
during Vespasian’s reign: when the elder Pliny, who died during the
eruption of Vesuvius in 79, dedicated his Historia Naturalis to Titus,
he praised Titus’s poetry as being as good as Domitian’s (NH Praef.
5). He wrote poems on the fall of the Capitol in 69 (Martial 5.5.7)
and, so it seems, on the capture of Jerusalem (Valerius Flaccus,
Argon. 1.10-12). We have adulatory references (written before 96)
to his poetical ability in general, from Statius (Achil. 1.15), Silius
Italicus (Pun. 3.621) and Quintilian (Inst. Or. 4. proem.), as well as
to his excellence in oratory (e.g. Pun. 3.618 and Inst. Or. 10.1.91: he
is as capable a poet as he is a warrior), and just as many hostile
accounts (written after 96) by Tacitus (Hist. 4.86) and Suetonius
(Dom. 2.2), both of whom used the same word (simulans, simulavit)
to describe his interest in poetry as ‘feigned’. As none of it (perhaps
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fortunately) survives, there is no way of judging the validity of their
assessments, nor is there any need to, for the evidence is clear:
Domitian had been soundly educated in much the same way as any
member of the senatorial élite of his time. But who were his tutors?
Certainly no one of the political eminence of Titus’s (Titus 2); but it
has been suggested®” that one of them was Statius’s father, an eminent
grammaticus who had himself competed in various Neronian literary
festivals, with victories in oratory and poetry.

Now Domitian’s literary productions went beyond poetry: despite
his alleged sensitivity on the topic, he had written and published a
book on baldness. But it is highly unlikely that Domitian was
genuinely interested in literature for its own sake.®® On the other
hand, he was well educated, able to converse elegantly (Dom. 20)
and to produce memorable comments (20). On his accession, he
abandoned his literary pretensions (20), limited his reading to
Tiberius’s commentaries, and devoted his attention to his own stern
and rigid ideal of emperorship, re-establishing Augustan standards
in money as well as in morals.* His ideal included a specific cultural
as well as political role for the emperor and his court: they were to
be the source of encouragement, the fountain-head, to the ruler’s
greater glory. Hence his seemingly atypical gesture in spending vast
sums of money to restore fully the great library at Alexandria, even
sending scribes to copy works that he was unable to purchase (Dom.
20). It was all part of the new imperial image.

No precise details are known of the circumstances of Domitian’s
upbringing in the late 50s and 60s. His father’s return to full imperial
favour was counterbalanced, as far as Domitian was concerned,
firstly, by his absence as proconsul of Africa and secondly, a few
years later (December 66), by his appointment, together with Titus,
to Judaea, both of them trusted agents of Nero. So, between the ages
of 15 and 18, he saw neither father nor brother, and his mother had
been long dead. Probably, he had been left in the care of his uncle,
Sabinus II, who, as Tacitus observes, was the most senior member of
the family (Hist. 3.75), superior in status to Vespasian. The argument
that he resided in Rome at this period with his uncle is, admittedly,
tenuous. Sabinus had a house on the Quirinal,* and both Tacitus
(Hist. 3.69) and Dio (65.17.2) refer to the fact that he summoned his
children and Domitian to the Capitol, with the implication that the
latter was living with them and that their present, nearby abode was
unsafe. Nor was Domitian merely there on a temporary basis, since
he must have been educated in Rome: at Dom. 1.2, Suetonius has
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him crossing the Tiber and taking refuge at the home of one of his
school friends.

One can but speculate on the effect that it all had on his character.
His later preference for his own company is one obvious outcome:
both Dio (66.9.5: c. 70) and Suetonius (Domz. 3.1: after his accession)
refer to this trait in his character, and, consistent with this, was his
habit of taking solitary walks after a meal (Dom. 21).

AFTERMATH OF CIVIL WAR

Nothing is known of Domitian during the tumultuous eighteen
months when three emperors (Nero, Galba and Otho) perished. On
the other hand, his role in the confused events of December 69,
culminating in the death of the emperor Vitellius by the afternoon of
20 December,* is described in (not always consistent*?) detail by
Tacitus (Hist. 4.59, 69, 74) and Suetonius (Dom. 1.2) and briefly by
Dio (65.17.2-5) and Josephus (B] 4.645-9). On 18 December,
according to Tacitus, Sabinus IT and some supporters occupied the
northern summit (the arx) of the Capitol* and sent for his family
and Domitian (Hist. 3.69). On the 19th, the Capitol was besieged
and Sabinus killed (3.70-2), with Domitian escaping in Isaic disguise
to spend the night with one of his father’s clients, Cornelius Primus
(3.74). Suetonius, on the other hand, has Domitian taken in by the
temple attendant (aedituus) who concealed him for the night (Dom.
1.2): the next day, he escaped by mingling with a procession of Isis
worshippers and found sanctuary with the mother of one of his
school friends. Wellesley has attempted to reconcile the two
accounts, but the result is not convincing.* Wiseman’s argument is
to be preferred,* i.e. (in essence) Tacitus’s account is accurate,
Domitian stayed with an aedituus, not the aedituus (i.e. of the temple
of Jupiter Optimus Maximus or of the temple of Isis), and the
Flavians occupied the arx, not the south-western summit.*® The next
day, Domitian presented himself to the invading Flavian forces (Hist.
4.86) and was hailed as Caesar. Subsequently, he tore down the
attendant’s house and replaced it with a sacellum to Juppiter
Conservator, later converted into a huge temple to Juppiter Custos
(Hist. 4.70).

After the events of December 69, the situation was grave: wisely,
Vespasian and Titus remained well away, the former returning c.
September 70, the latter in June of the following year.*” Apart from

14



EARLY CAREER

the immediate aftermath of the battle, with the victorious Flavians
seeking the spoils of battle, with blood and bodies everywhere (Hist.
3.83) and cruelty on a level with that shown by Sulla or Cinna (3.83),
there were longer-term problems facing the conquerors—Vitellius’s
praetorians sought reinstatement, legionaries recently promised
praetorian status (and therefore double pay) now demanded it (4.46)
and senators, emerging from their hiding-places after ten days,
sought to exercise what they imagined to be their traditional role,
urging that Neronian delatores be dealt with.* In the last days of
December, supreme power had been in the hands of Antonius Primus
(4.2) and the praetorian prefect Arrius Varus. But Mucianus had
acted promptly. Once in Rome, he assumed control and proceeded
to reduce the influence of Primus and Varus (4.11). Varus, though
supported by Domitian, was replaced by M. Arrecinus Clemens, a
Flavian relative but also a friend of Domitian (4.68). As well,
Mucianus ensured that Primus was not admitted into Domitian’s
circle (4.80) and, as a result, Primus sought support from Vespasian
personally. He failed to get it. In short, the real power was in
Mucianus’s hands (4.39).

Decisions made at Berytus some six months before* were now
ratified. More immediate problems, some requiring a diplomatic
approach, were solved by Mucianus and no one else.’® One example
will suffice to indicate Mucianus’s potentia and Domitian’s
comparative insignificance.

Tettius Julianus, brother-in-law of Vespasian’s powerful
freedman finance minister and legate of the Moesian legion VII
Claudia in 69, had been accused of having deserted it when it
declared for Vespasian (Hist. 4.39).°! Designated praetor for 70,
Julianus was stripped of the honour by Mucianus at the very first
meeting of a Vespasianic senate (1 January) and the post given to
Plotius Grypus. But, on 3 January, Mucianus reversed his decision,
gave Julianus his praetorship, but also allowed Grypus to retain
his, even though the latter had (so it seems) acted at the instigation
of Julianus’s powerful enemy, the Moesian governor Aponius
Saturninus who had tried to kill Julianus (2.89). The problem was
a delicate one. Mucianus knew that, on the one hand, the support
of the Danubian legions and of leaders such as Aponius Saturninus
was especially vital in January 70; yet, on the other, powerful
imperial freedmen could not be offended. This was the sort of
decision only an experienced diplomat and administrator such as
he could make.
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As Caesar, Domitian moved into the imperial residence (4.2), was
appointed praetor with consular power (4.3) and represented the
family in the senate, urging restraint on those wishing to deal with
the delatores and suggesting that awkward matters be referred to
Vespasian (4.40). This was his role; coached by Mucianus, he
acquitted himself well. Mucianus was at the helm, Domitian the
figurehead.

Domitian was eager for military glory; the criticism levelled at
him on this score is quite unfair.’> Any member of the élite, at the age
of 18 at least, believed that military glory surpassed everything else,
for the entire world obeyed Rome because of that very quality,
according to Cicero (Pro Murena 22); and his enthusiasm would
have been enhanced by the fact that his father, uncle, brother and
four other male relatives had personally led a legion (usually into
battle®). Like Titus, he was impatient for military glory. Some few
months later, when Titus and his senior officers were stationed on
the Antonia supervising the fighting near the Temple, Titus was
anxious to descend and join his men but ‘was restrained by his
friends on account of the gravity of the risk;...they remarked that he
would achieve more by sitting still on the Antonia as director of the
contest’ (BJ 6.132-3). Titus’s impatience was, in a sense,
understandable: he had already said that ‘rapidity was essential to
military renown’ (BJ 5.498). So Domitian’s attitude was perfectly
natural and even more comprehensible. Given his background and
the importance placed by society on military glory, what would
surely have attracted criticism would have been any indication of
disinterest in acquiring it.

Apart from difficulties in the city, attention was focused on the
uprising in Germany,* where the Batavian auxiliaries of the Rhine
legions, led by Civilis, had revolted and been joined by some of the
Treveri under Classicus. Seven legions were sent from Rome,
commanded by Petillius Cerialis,* probably Vespasian’s son-in-law,
and, when it was mistakenly thought that reinforcements were
needed, Mucianus and Domitian marched north. On their way, they
were informed that the uprising in Gaul had failed; so they stayed at
Lyons, and, before long, Civilis was also defeated. Soon it was
rumoured that Mucianus had refused Domitian a command against
the Gauls, and that Cerialis would not accept Domitian’s suggestion
that Cerialis should hand over his army to him (Hist. 4.86). But,
whilst the details of the revolt and its rapid suppression are beyond
dispute, the rumours of Domitian’s attitude and behaviour are not.

16



EARLY CAREER

Possibly, his reaction was reported to Vespasian in exaggerated terms
by Mucianus himself. It has been argued®® that Vespasian hurried
back to Rome in late summer of 70, not so much because he was
worried about Domitian’s conduct (Dom. 2.1), but rather to lessen
Mucianus’s influence in the capital. Titus’s words to Vespasian,
urging him to be lenient with Domitian, might be interpreted as a
reference to the prominent amicus Mucianus: as for friends [amici],
time, changes in fortune, at times their ambition or their mistakes,
may lessen, alter or destroy their affection’ (Hist. 4.52).

On the other hand, adulatory comments in the poets on
Domitian’s military achievements are completely inaccurate and
utterly worthless as historical evidence. He did not lack courage—
even Tacitus had to admit that (3.44)—but references to his
defending Jupiter while still a youth (Statius, Theb. 1.21), regaining
the Palatine when it was held by an evil power (Martial 9.101.13),
holding the reins of power and then giving them up (Martial
9.10.15-16), causing the Treveri to surrender (BJ 7.85) and terrifying
the yellow-haired Batavians (Silius Italicus, Pun. 3.608) are literary
excesses at best.

Domitian’s behaviour at this period also attracted the attention
of the literary sources. According to Dio (66.2.2-3), Mucianus and
Domitian appointed so many governors, prefects and consuls that
Vespasian wrote to Domitian thanking him for allowing Vespasian
himself to continue as emperor. Suetonius has a different version of
events, but much the same anecdote: in a single day, Domitian (but
not Mucianus) made twenty appointments, causing Vespasian to
express surprise that one of them was not a successor to Vespasian
himself (Dom. 1.3). But many of these decisions would have already
been made, or, at the very least, firm guidelines for them laid down
at Berytus six months before;*” however, this was a barrier neither to
Vespasian’s sense of humour nor to the inventive minds of hostile
historians. Vespasian’s witticism (whether he made it or not) had to
be explained, and Dio’s addition of Mucianus was supposed to
provide a touch of verisimilitude.

Dio outlines the Gallic war briefly, with a reference to Cerialis
but none whatsoever to Domitian. On the contrary, he implies that
Domitian spent all his time near Alba seducing various unnamed
married women and finally marrying one (66.3.4). Suetonius, on the
other hand, reverses the order and depicts an even busier Domitian—
seduction and distribution of official posts (Dom. 1.3) followed by
war (2.1). Tacitus’s version only serves to complicate matters. He
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has Domitian living not at Alba but on the Palatine, engaged in
debauchery as well as adultery (Hist. 4.2). Whilst the apparent
chronological inconsistencies are of minimal significance, the
variants resulting from differences in artistic presentation, each
account is consistent with the standard literary portrait of Domitian
the emperor and represents an essential prelude to it—an emperor
who preached morality but practised incest and murdered his
opponents would surely have revealed such tendencies earlier. So the
versions ought to be considered in this light.

Two facts are clear. He was determined to achieve military glory
and he persuaded Lamia’s wife, daughter of the esteemed Corbulo,
to leave her husband and marry him—without, necessarily, seducing
her first. All the rest is of dubious value.

Domitian’s choice was eminently wise. Other Flavian marriage
partners, Caesennius Paetus and Petillius Cerialis, were famed for
their military incompetence, Paetus at Rhandeia and Petillius
consistently.’® But Corbulo’s name was synonymous with strict
discipline and achievement in battle, and he was a Neronian victim
as well. A better candidate would have been hard to find. So there is
no need to reject completely the evidence of the Cancelleria Reliefs.*
Vespasian did not upbraid his son publicly: what was said in private
no one knows.

ROLE BEFORE ACCESSION

Certain practical considerations predetermined Domitian’s official
position in the 70s. Whereas the first four Roman emperors
reigned for over eighty years in all, the next four perished in little
more than eighteen months. The ninth, Vespasian, was already 60
on his accession, but determined to secure the succession for his
sons (Vesp. 25; Dio 66.12.1), the elder of whom, fresh from the
conquest of Jerusalem, was now just over 30. That Titus should
have become Vespasian’s heir, even, some would argue, co-
emperor,® was inevitable and his position had to be made secure if
the dynasty were to last. A series of ordinary consulships,
tribunician power, the censorship and the praetorian prefecture,®
all fell to him. Domitian was left with honours, but not
responsibility, and it is difficult to see what else Vespasian could
have done. Domitian may not have approved, but he had been
done no injustice.
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He held the consulship six times (71, 73, 75, 76, 77 and 79) in the
reign, replacing his father or brother and assuming office usually
around 13 January, i.e. whereas they held the only two available
‘ordinary’ or more prestigious posts, he was regarded as the first
replacement or ‘suffect’ consul, for they would retire after a term of
two weeks only.®? In 73, however, he was ordinary consul, but,
according to Suetonius (Dom. 2.1), only because Titus ceded the
post to him. Problems have arisen with this award since some coins®
appear to have him designated to it as early as 71,% i.e. he was
supposed to have become consul in 72, was later snubbed and then
given the senior position in 73 as recompense. But the reading on
these coins should be rejected and Suetonius’s statement regarded as
‘malicious’:®* Domitian received an ordinary consulship since his
father and brother were about to assume the censorship in the
course of that year. Throughout the reign, Titus always had two
consulships fewer than Vespasian and Domitian one fewer than
Titus: thus, in 76, Vespasian was COS VII, Titus COS V and
Domitian COS IV, thereby reflecting exactly the relative status of
each member of the family. But it was Vespasian’s intention to
honour his younger son as much as possible. After all, for non-
Flavians, three consulships represented the summit, the summum
fastigium (Ep. 2.1.2) of one’s ambition and Mucianus alone was so
honoured between 70 and 79.

His other honours included the titles Caesar and Princeps
Tuventutis, various priesthoods (he is attested as augur, frater arvalis,
magister fratrum arvalium, pontifex and sacerdos collegiorum
ommnium) and, from 72, he possessed the right to have coins issued
theoretically under his own aegis.®

Two of his four known consular colleagues, Valerius Festus and
Catullus Messallinus, became imperial amici after 81.47 It would not
be unreasonable to assume that his experience as consul provided
both valuable training in senatorial procedure and worthwhile
friendships amongst sympathetic senators. He must have been well
aware of the senate’s role after spending a decade therein. Perhaps
his reservations on its relevance were based on personal observation.

On the other hand, the sources portray him as devoting himself to
literature (Dom. 2.2), feigning madness and spending most of his
time at the Alban villa impaling flies (Dio 66.9.3,4%): sulking in his
retreat, he even refused to kiss his father’s mistress Caenis (Doma.
12.3). Nor was military glory to be his, though he was anxious for it
still. Around 75 (Dio 66.15.3), Vespasian rejected Vologaesus’s
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request for some auxilia led by Titus or Domitian to deal with an
invasion of the Alani (Dom. 2.2); undeterred, Domitian tried to bribe
other eastern kings directly affected by the attack® to support the
Parthian request, but it was all to no avail. As an ultimate insult,
even though (so he claimed) he was left a share in imperial power
according to the terms of his father’s will, he still received nothing,
since the will had been tampered with (Dom. 2.3)—and Titus was
known as an expert forger (Titus 3.2). That Domitian was
dissatisfied with his lot is not unlikely, but the extent of his reaction
is hard to assess, given the bias of our sources.

No change occurred in Titus’s brief reign: neither tribunician
power nor imperium of any kind was offered him. Titus did promise
that he would be his consors and successor (Titus 9.3), but carefully
avoided doing anything about it: not for nothing had that astute
diplomat been trained in a Neronian court. In any case, no longer
married and only 40, he was some ten years younger than Claudius
had been when he took his third wife and produced two children.
Possibly, Titus preferred to keep his options open. Again, the general
situation in 80 was vastly different from that of 70, and, as well, he
could expect to rule for at least another thirty years, given the ages
at death of Augustus, Tiberius, Claudius and Vespasian. So, despite
the alleged constant plots of Domitian against him (Titus 9.3; Dom.
2.3), no immediate decision was necessary.

Evidence has been adduced to show Titus’s hostility to Domitian.
According to Gsell, Aelius Lamia, Domitia Longina’s first husband,
was granted a suffect consulship by Titus as an insult to Domitian.”
It is far more likely that Titus was trying to honour a member of a
family (the Plautii) that had supported the Flavians since the time of
Augustus. Similar allegations centred on the promotion of Sabinus
IV, grandson of Vespasian’s brother and the oldest living male
Flavian apart from Vespasian’s sons. Titus, it is claimed, just before
his death in September 81, designated Sabinus to the ordinary
consulship for 82 so as to make Domitian fear that Sabinus was to
be Titus’s heir, thereby making Domitian ‘more submissive’.”* But
the argument is worthless.”

No doubt brotherly affection was at a minimum, and not
unexpectedly, since they hardly knew each other. Until Domitian
was 4 (c. 55), Titus remained at court, educated with Britannicus
(Titus 2); not long afterwards (c. 59), he left Rome for three years
overseas as military tribune, returning to marry Arrecina Tertulla
and then Marcia Furnilla (c. 63-53); in December 66, he was
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appointed to Judaea and remained in the east until 71.7 One
wonders what they would have had in common, in view of the
difference of eleven years in their ages, and just when they would
have had the time to repair the deficiency.

But, whatever the relationship between them, Domitian seems to
have displayed mimimum concern for Titus during his illness in
September 81. As the emperor lay dying on the 13th, Domitian made
for the praetorians’ camp, promised them a donative and was hailed
as emperor (Dio 66.26.3). Once the news of his death reached Rome,
the senators assembled, even before an edict could be issued (Titus
11), not to vote the usual powers to the new emperor, but to honour
the dead one (Titus 11), a procedure hardly likely to reassure
Domitian, who had to wait until the following day to receive
imperium and the title Augustus (CIL 6.2060) together with
tribunicia potestas, the office of pontifex maximus and the title pater
patriae.”
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Influence, ability and money had secured the throne for Vespasian
and his sons. In the early part of the first century, Sabinus I, well
aware of the significance of the the court, had expertly gained access
to it, leaving for his sons the task of becoming part of its inner circle;
and it was Vespasian, rather than his older brother (Sabinus II) who
was more successful in that Titus (and not Sabinus III) was educated
at court. But they all accepted the court as it was, realizing but not
openly proclaiming its centrality in government. Domitian was less
subtle.

His ever-growing autocracy and preference for a monarchical
system of government was paralleled by an open admission of what
had long been obvious, that real power resided wherever the emperor
was, wherever he chose to establish his court, and nowhere else; that
was not necessarily on the Palatine. During the course of his reign, it
must have seemed to many that not only was the senate irrelevant
but also that Rome itself was not perpetually the centre of power.
Other emperors had left Rome without unduly disturbing the process
of government, but none as often as Domitian, none as openly.

In the first place, it might fairly be asked how frequently Domitian
bothered to attend the senate. A recent study produced somewhat
pessimistic results, finding the question impossible to determine.!
But we can at least be fairly certain that he did not emulate his father,
who, we are told, lived rarely in the Palace (Dio 66.10.4), but did
regularly attend meetings of the senate, until old age prevented him
doing so (Dio 66.10.5). On the other hand, most of the sources are
decidedly unhelpful in assessing the frequency of Domitian’s attend-
ance at senatorial meetings. According to Pliny, his senators were
terrified, discussing matters of no importance or else participating in
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some great crime (Ep. 8.14.5; Pan. 76.3). But even that does not
imply that the emperor was present, for, through his associates, he
had ready access to what occurred in the Curia: elsewhere (Pan.
62.3-4), Pliny maintains that there were two groups in the senate,
the emperor’s favourites and the rest. Again, an ex-quaestor known
as the ab actis senatus was appointed, perhaps for the first time in
Domitian’s reign, to supervise the senate’s proceedings: possibly, like
Junius Rusticus under Tiberius (Ann. 5.4),> he did more than this.
Somewhat more definite, though, is Suetonius’s reference to
Domitian’s urging the senate to accept his motion that those found
guilty of treason be allowed ‘free choice in the manner of their death
...[so] all will know that I was present at the meeting of the senate’
(Dom. 11.3). Whilst the evidence is but slight, it could well be that,
on those occasions when he was in Rome, Domitian did not attend
senatorial meetings on a regular basis.

ASPECTS OF DOMITIAN’S COURT

Even in the early empire, the source of all real influence and power
was the imperial court, access to which was far from easy. Two
possible avenues existed—via a powerful aristocratic family in
favour with the Caesars or possibly through the goodwill of one of
the imperial freedmen or women with constant access to the imperial
family. The Flavians used both.

It can not be stressed too often that a fully developed court was in
existence well before the time of Domitian: one of the more visible
indications of the change from republic to empire was physical—the
development of an imperial court and imperial palace.’ Dio explains
the latter term:

The royal residence is called the ‘Palatium’, not because it was
ever decided that this should be so, but because the emperor
lives on the Palatium and has his headquarters there...[and], if
the emperor resides anywhere else, his dwelling retains the
name of ‘Palatium’.

(53.16.5-6)

Hence our ‘Palace’:* and Domitian frequently lived outside Rome,
far more so than any of his predecessors, a fact that did not endear
him to the senate, for he was publicly proclaiming its impotence.
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The Palatine hill had long been the favoured residential area of
the capital, but, under the empire, private homes gradually
disappeared, with few surviving the fire of 64, and a complex of
imperial residences, houses and gardens developed. Domitian’s
grandiose palace, for instance, covered the entire south-eastern half

of the hill.

Palatium and aula

It is perfectly proper to speak of the imperial ‘palace’, for Suetonius,
who was only twenty years younger than Domitian, uses the word
frequently in its modern sense. Tiberius, for instance, starved Drusus
to death in one of the Palace’s lower rooms (in ima parte Palatii:
Tib. 54.2), Gaius opened a brothel in his (lupinar in Palatio: Gains
41.1) and Vitellius’s ‘abdication’ was announced to his assembled
troops from the Palace steps (pro gradibus Palatii: Vit. 15.2). On the
other hand, it should be noted that eminent senators, in the republic
as well as in the empire, were expected to possess a city house
appropriate to their status, as Vitruvius, writing under Augustus
(6.5.2), pointed out.’ But the imperial palace differed from the
elaborate establishments of the republican nobility not only in size
but more importantly in function. It became the centre of political,
intellectual and social life: Aulus Gellius refers to scholars conversing
in the vestibulum of the Palatine (NA 4.1.1) or in the area Palatina
(NA 20.1.2) while waiting for the imperial salutatio.® Already
Augustus had a freedman (C. Julius Hyginus: PIR? ] 357) in charge
of what Suetonius (De Gramm. 20) called the Palatine library and,
by Domitian’s time, that function was performed by Sextus (PIR* S
487), whom Martial described as ‘the eloquent votary of Palatine
Minerva, [able to] enjoy more closely the genius of the god’ (i.e.
Domitian: 5.5.1-2). By his time, too, the role of the senior imperial
freedmen was recognized linguistically with the adjective Palatinus
being applied to them—Parthenius, his cubicularius, is described by
Martial as Palatinus Parthenius (4.45).

It is perfectly accurate, too, to speak of an imperial ‘court’ (aula).
Gaius, so we are told by Suetonius, was asked by his sister Agrippina
to give her child (i.e. the future emperor Nero) a name: his
suggestion, Claudius, was scorned since Claudius was the laughing
stock of the court (ludibria aulae: Nero 6.1). Or again, Nero’s
courtiers approved of Otho—prona in eum (i.e. Othonem) aula:
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Hist. 1.13—because he was like Nero. Such were Vitellius’s
attributes that he had a prominent position in the courts (praecipumum
in aula locum) of three emperors, viz. in Gaius’s (because of his
ability to drive a chariot), in Claudius’s (for his devotion to dice) and
also in Nero’s (as he arranged for Nero to be asked to play the lyre:
Vit. 14). Vespasian was in terror (trepidus) at being forbidden Nero’s
court (aula interdicta) and did not know what he was to do or where
to go (Vesp. 14).

Modern readers tend to expect ancient (and medieval) courts to
have certain features. The imperial court had them too, and the
adjective aulicus (‘pertaining to a court’) was used to describe them.
Nero had court wrestlers (luctatoribus aulicis: Nero 45.1);
Domitian’s gladiators had all the splendour of the court (aulico
apparatu: Dom. 4.2). Tiberius and ‘one of the dwarfs standing
among the jesters’ discussed the fate of a man charged with treason
(Tib. 61.6); Claudius, too, was particularly fond of his jesters (Ann.
12.49). Centuries later, dwarfs were still significant features in the
courts of Italy and England: at the marriage of two of Charles Is
dwarfs, Richard Gibson and Anne Shepherd, each a metre high,
Charles himself gave the bride away.” Similarly, in the imperial court,
we hear of Domitian’s dwarf,® with whom he used to converse in
public (Dom. 4.2), of an unarmed dwarf in the arena (Martial
1.43.10) and of a fighting group of dwarfs at the Saturnalia (Silvae
1.6.57). Like many Romans, he was fascinated by the unusual:’ he
even arranged for combats in the arena between women and dwarfs
(Dio 67.8.4). In general, the imperial court of the first century had
all the paraphernalia and trappings of a medieval court.

The similarity is obvious from the comments of various
contemporary writers. The court had a role in the succession
problems under Tiberius, encouraging Gaius’s hopes (Gaius 12.1):
Seneca claimed that it was very rare to reach old age at (Gaius’s)
court (De Ira 2.33.2); Martial complained of the traffic in empty
rumour in the emperor’s palace (4.5.7); and Tacitus (Ann. 3.55),
Plutarch (Conjug. Praec. 17) and Pliny (Pan. 45.5) express the same
theme as Herodian (1.2.4) that ‘subjects always model their lives on
the ideals of their ruler’.! It is not just coincidence that Cicero in 50
BC and Tacitus 150 years later both associate the words aula
(‘court’) and rex (‘king’), Cicero referring to Ariobarzanes (Ad Fam.
15.4.6) and Tacitus to Abdagaeses (Ann. 6.43).1!

Whatever the rhetoric, the early empire was a monarchy, and,
even if it had not been indicated by other evidence, the language of
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contemporary writers alone reveals it clearly; and as well as the
consequential impotence of the imperial senate as a body, we have
the fact that tremendous influence was wielded by a few favoured
courtiers—senators, equestrians, freedmen and others. Access to the
court was vital for social advancement, and the methods sometimes
used to gain such access were certainly not for the squeamish:
Suetonius relates how Otho pretended to love an influential
freedwoman of Nero’s court, a difficult task as she was old and all
but decrepit (anum ac paene decrepitam: Otho 2.2), but,
nonetheless, he persevered. So power was concentrated in the
imperial court, not in the senate house, for the emperor was most
often to be seen i1 aula, where men’s real views of him were formed.
Domitian illustrates this perfectly: his court not only passed
judgment on him but also carried it out. Those responsible for his
assassination, according to Suetonius, were his friends, favourite
freedmen and his wife (Dom. 14.1)—in essence, his courtiers.

The court outside Italy

On five separate occasions, Domitian left Italy on military
expeditions, viz. in 82/3 (Rhine), 85 and 86 (Danube), 89 (Rhine
and Danube) and 92 (Danube), but not a great deal of evidence
survives to enable an assessment either of the exact duration of these
journeys or of the size and nature of the retinue that accompanied
him. Legally, the latter was indistinguishable from the army itself,
both simply part of the imperial comitatus,'* but practically, any
such expedition posed a variety of problems, as Suetonius instances
in his Life of Tiberius (38). That emperor planned, but did not
undertake a number of provincial tours—so much so that people
used to call him ‘Callipedes’ after the actor of that name, famous for
imitating a long-distance runner who never moved from the same
spot. Nonetheless, transport always had to be chartered, sources of
food and drink determined, and even vows for his safe return
arranged in advance (Tib. 38). The prelude could also include
sacrifices and visits to a number of temples (Ann. 15.36). Once
outside the city, the emperor was legally on campaign, with the
practical side of the journey in the hands of the a copiis Augusti,
such as Plotius Grypus for part at least of his journey in 92.13
Presumably, Domitian’s retinue was large: we know that, on one
occasion, it included his taster, Ti. Claudius Zosimus,'* whilst his
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comites probably included Fabricius Veiento and Julius Frontinus in
82/3" and certainly Lucianus Proclus in 89 (Dio 67.11.50).

Less clear is the effect that these journeys had on his reputation.
According to Pliny, they were like plundering forays, like the attacks
of the very barbarians from whom he was fleeing (Pan. 20.4), with
property being destroyed and houses emptied to provide forced
lodgings. Now, in view of Domitian’s well-attested concern for the
provinces (Dom. 8.2), one is tempted to dismiss Pliny’s claims as
nonsense, and nonsense they may well be. But the terms (or, rather,
the implications) of Domitian’s mandata to his Syrian procurator
Claudius Athenodorus ought to be borne in mind, in particular the
provision that force was not to be used contrary to the emperor’s
wishes, or that an imperial diploma was needed before requisitioning
anything:!® perhaps it would be over-cynical to interpret this as
authorizing official robbery.

So the elaborate preparations these journeys involved, the size of
the retinue, and, not least, the repetition of prayers for the emperor’s
safe return must have served to keep on reminding members of the
aristocracy that the administration of the empire could be divorced
not only from the senate but also from the city itself. Nor were his
absences brief: we know that his fifth expedition (in 92) lasted some
eight months (Martial 9.31.3), but, unfortunately, have nothing
nearly as accurate for the other four. On the basis of what we do
know, though, he could well have spent the best part of three years
or 20 per cent of his reign outside Rome and Italy.

The court at Alba

But a considerable amount of his time seems to have been spent at
his ‘villa’ at Alba, some 20 kilometres out of the city on the Via
Appia. The massive size of his ‘retreat’ (secessus: Dom. 19) there
belies the name “villa’: apart from the main palace usually attributed
to Rabirius, there were the reservoirs, baths, theatre, circus and 300-
metre-long cryptoporticus.'” According to Dio, he had the area set
apart as a kind of Acropolis (67.1.1), and both Tacitus (Agr. 45) and
Juvenal (4.145) refer to it as the arx Albana i.e. the ‘Alban citadel’,
with the clear implication that it was the abode of a tyrant.

Most importantly, he seems to have been happy there, for he
indulged in the sport he loved, hunting and, in particular,
displaying his skills as an archer: he could shoot two successive
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arrows into an animal in such a way that they looked like horns,
as well as firing four towards the out-stretched palm of one of the
slaves so that they would pass harmlessly between the fingers
(Dom. 19). Again, it was here, during the early part of Vespasian’s
reign, that he conducted his affair with Domitia Longina (Dio
66.3.4).

In comparison with what we know about his five journeys outside
Italy, the evidence we have for his activities at Alba is comprehensive,
in the sense that it shows him performing a variety of obviously
imperial tasks there, rather than in Rome, as one might expect.

The ‘privy council’ sometimes met there. In fact, whilst it is not
very often that any meetings of an emperor’s consilium can be
attested, two of Domitian’s are known and both of them were held
at the Alban villa. In Juvenal’s fourth satire, the terrified imperial
amici were summoned Albanam in arcem as though they were going
to discuss the fate of the Chatti or the Sycambri (145-7); and an
inscription records that, at a meeting held in Albano on 22 July 82,
Domitian used the ‘distinguished men of each order as advisers’ to
settle a land dispute between the Falerienses and the Firmani.'®
Tacitus’s comment that Catullus Messallinus’s ‘noisy advice’ was
not heard beyond the arx Albana presumably refers to a private
meeting between informer and emperor rather than to an official
meeting of the ‘privy council’.

Cornelia, the chief Vestal, was tried there for incestum. The chief
priest (i.e. Domitian), accompanied by the other pontifices, held the
trial at the Alban villa rather than at the Regia (Ep. 4.11.6), with
Cornelia being condemned in her absence. Despite Pliny’s comments,
there was nothing irregular in the choice of site: it was not being
held intra cubiculum.”

Here, too, the special games in honour of Minerva were held
almost every year, with contests of poets, orators and gladiators
(Dom. 4.4; Dio 67.1.2; Juv. 4.99): Martial comments on the gold
olive-wreath prize (5.1.1) and Statius was inordinately proud of the
victories he won there (Silvae 3.5.28; similarly 5.3.227-9).

Our evidence, then, suggests that a surprising variety of his
imperial duties were performed at the Alban villa. When these are
taken in conjunction with his absences on the Rhine and Danube, it
is clear that he (quite correctly) saw his powers as being in no way
limited to the domus Flavia. More importantly, though, the
geographical barrier between emperor and senator was more
substantial and real. There was now no subterfuge.
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Evidence of Juvenal and Dio

A number of Domitian’s courtiers appear in Juvenal’s fourth satire,
describing what purports to have been a meeting between Domitian
and some of his amici, to discuss, not important policy matters, but
the fate of a fish that had been presented to the emperor.?® His
description of the meeting’s tone is vivid and striking: allowing for a
satirist’s exaggeration, we may even find a grain of truth in it. Apart
from the emperor, eleven were present, all terrified, both before the
meeting (4.75) and after it (4.146); not one made the slightest
objection to the triviality of the matter on the agenda; courtiers of
senatorial rank were kept waiting at the door until the fish was
shown to the emperor (4.65) and one of them, Montanus, required
six lines of verse just to say ‘No’ (4.130-5). And Domitian hated
them all (4.73).

One of Dio’s anecdotes provides corroborating evidence of a sort.
In some detail, he describes the dinner party (or, rather, the funeral
banquet) held for those who died in the Dacian campaign (67.9.6).
Leading senators and equestrians were invited. The ceiling, walls
and floor of the room were black, each guest had what looked like a
gravestone for a place-tag, boys painted black danced before them,
the dishes provided were those offered for the spirits of the dead, no
one spoke except Domitian (and he limited his conversation to topics
connected with death and slaughter) and, when the meal was over,
they were sent home accompanied, not by their own slaves, but by
some they did not know. Throughout the banquet, Dio asserts
(67.9.3), they feared they would have their throats cut, a feeling
exacerbated when, as soon as they reached their homes, a messenger
came from the emperor. This time they expected to die (67.9.5), but,
instead, received expensive gifts. All night, they had been ‘in terror’
(Dio 67.9.1-6).

Now it is hazardous to attempt to recreate the atmosphere of
Domitian’s court from evidence such as this; but he was assassinated
by his courtiers, those who knew him best, and their motivation
demands explanation. The dramatic date of Juvenal’s fourth satire
is ¢. 82,%! that of Dio almost a decade later, yet both insist on the
atmosphere of terror and unreality that pervaded the court. Even if
one makes allowances for the elaboration and amplification to be
expected from writers such as Juvenal and Dio, it does not seem to
have been a product of the last years of the reign alone. Their
evidence is given greater weight by Suetonius’s account of
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Domitian’s assassination: the relevant chapter (14) begins with a
statement that everyone was terrified of the emperor.

Evidence of Statius and Martial

The evidence provided by the court poets Statius and Martial is
consistent with this. Discussing the numerous passages in their works
that praise Domitian or, on the contrary, those sections of the
Panegyricus that laud Trajan, would be equally tedious; on the other
hand, some general observations should be made. According to Millar

If our only evidence for the regime of Domitian were the poems
written during it, we should see the imperial court as a benign
centre of patronage, literary as well as official, and the scene of
a civilized existence carried on against a background of elegant
houses and suburban estates.??

But we cannot simply reject the poets’ evidence and assume the
contrary, that, since Domitian was an autocrat, he must have
imposed, through his court, his own narrow concept of artistic taste,
a sort of baroque mannerism. Unlike his father, Domitian had
literary pretensions, and some ability as well. His interests were not
narrow: for instance, he must have encouraged Rabirius in his
innovative approach to architecture. Perhaps he favoured the
baroque or mannered style in sculpture, literature and architecture,
in short mannerism as distinct from classicism.?* So, for most critics,
there are obvious similarities between the style of Statius’s Thebaid
and the relief panels on the Arch of Titus, both described as ‘Flavian
baroque’** and some even go so far as to imagine the existence of a
close connection between autocracy and mannerism.?

On the other hand, evidence shows that he did not impose his
preferences in cultural matters. Consider the Cancelleria Reliefs,
found near the Palazzo della Cancelleria in Rome between 1937 and
1939.2¢ Many scholars have remarked on their non-baroque
appearance and classicizing style, so different from the panels on the
Arch of Titus; others have gone further, claiming that, for this very
reason, they cannot be Domitianic:

We are [with these reliefs] in a realm of classicizing beauty
behind which can be observed new principles of abstraction of
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forms, hieratic scale of figures and irrationality of special
relationships which far remove the Cancelleria reliefs from
Flavian concepts of both form and content.?”

So, it is argued, if apparently Domitianic sculpture is inconsistent
with modern canons of what his taste must have been, then it is not
proper to regard it as Domitianic and better to consign it to a more
suitable?® period. The whole topic deserves more detailed treatment
than can legitimately be given here, but it is relevant to an assessment
of the atmosphere of the court itself, a court where, surprisingly,
individuality had some scope.

Furthermore, whilst instances of Martial’s and Statius’s adulation
of the emperor are numerous enough, on some occasions their
remarks can perhaps be described as close to vicious satire,” as in
parts of the latter’s poem (Silvae 3.4) on the locks of the imperial
favourite Flavius Earinus.’® Born in Pergamum, Domitian’s eunuch
wanted to send some hair-clippings to the temple of Asclepius there?!
and Domitian asked Statius to write a poem on the topic. No
commission could possibly have been more difficult—a poem on hair
for an emperor who was, so it seems, notoriously sensitive’? about
his own baldness (Dom. 18.2) and praise of an imperial eunuch when
the emperor had forbidden castration, ‘immature bodies suffering
an unutterable outrage.’>

Some passages are more significant than others. At lines 14-19,
Statius introduced the comparison between Jupiter/Juno/Ganymede
and Domitian/Domitia/Earinus, claiming that, whereas Juno was
jealous of Ganymede (‘he on whom Juno always looks in anger’: 14—
15), Domitian’s consort had nothing but praise for Earinus (‘Ausonian
Jove and Roman Juno [i.e. Domitian and Domitia] alike look on
[Earinus] with kindly brow and both approve’: 17-19), savage irony
surely,>* when Domitia is portrayed as delighting in her husband’s
open display of pederasty. But the key passage is the reference to the
boy’s castration, performed (so we are told) by Asclepius himself—

The son of Phoebus with quiet skill gently bids his body lose its
sex, unmarred by any wound. But Cytherea is devoured by
anxious care, and fears lest the boy suffer. Not yet had the
noble clemency of our prince begun to keep our males
untouched from birth; today it is forbidden to destroy sex and
violate manhood.

(Silvae 3.4.69-75%)
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It has been described as ‘a ludicrous if not degrading conceit... [with]
an effect hardly less than emetic’;*® and what are we to make of
Venus’s fear that castration might prove painful!

Perhaps it was an attack on the emperor’s hypocrisy, composed
along the lines recommended by Quintilian: ‘you can speak well and
make open statements against the tyrants we were discussing,
provided the statement can be understood in another way’ (Inst. Or.
9.2.67). Imperial pederasty is hinted at by Martial in 9.36, one of
his epigrams on Earinus: ‘My Caesar has a thousand servants like
you, and his mighty hall has difficulty in holding his divinely
handsome youths’ (9.36.9-10).3® On that assessment, it has to be
assumed (as Statius’s and Martial’s survival indicates) that all this
was taken as a compliment and that no flattery was too outrageous
for Domitian.

So, on the available evidence, whilst Domitian’s concern for the
minutiae of administration did not cause him to impose on his court
his own standards of artistic taste, nonetheless the atmosphere of his
court was uneasy and highly artificial at best. To that extent, Statius’s
and Martial’s evidence is consistent with that provided by Dio and
Juvenal.

Evidence of his guests

Domitian’s treatment of guests invited to the palace provides an
insight into the atmosphere of the court. Dio’s anecdote (67.9.1-6)
has already been considered. According to Pliny (Pan. 49), Domitian
avoided his subjects and lived a life of solitude behind locked doors
(49.2), whereas Trajan worked and ate in public (49.4-5). Trajan
did not display meanness by cutting his banquets short (5-6) nor eat
a solitary meal before his guests arrived, watch their every move,
belch at them, throw food at them rather than present it and then,
after entertainment provided by practitioners of some eastern
superstition, depart for private excesses (6—8). On the other hand,
Suetonius (Dom. 21) refers to Domitian’s banquets as numerous,
generous but not prolonged; he ate little himself, since he preferred a
substantial meal in the middle of the day, there were no drinking
competitions, and, after the banquet, he would indulge in a solitary
walk. Martial, too, attests to his temperate drinking habits (4.8.10).
Pliny’s story appears to be highly imaginative, that of Suetonius more
probable, given the general hostility shown to the emperor in both
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their accounts of him. Compare the different interpretations of
Domitian’s fondness for solitude, attested elsewhere as the topic of
Vibius Crispus’s jokes (Dio 66.9.5; Dom. 3.1). But a preference for
his own company was one of his ‘errors’, a socially disastrous
practice, and all the more so when coupled with an aversion to
drinking heavily (unlike Trajan: SHA, Hadr. 3.3 and Alex. Sev. 39.1).
In short, he was probably regarded as socially incompetent and, if
we accept the general accuracy of Dio’s account (67.9.1-6), he was
at times given to bizarre practical jokes. The better one knew him,
the less one could like him, for uncertainty soon gave way to fear.

COURTIERS: FAMILY

Essentially, Domitian’s courtiers consisted of his family, his amici
and his freedmen, some of whom lived permanently at court,
whereas others were summoned with varying degrees of frequency.
To assess the impact and significance of his court, the various
members of each group merit consideration.

Domitia Longina

Daughter of Nero’s general Corbulo and wife of L.Aelius Lamia
Plautius Aelianus (Dio 66.3.4; Dom. 1.3),*” she was one of the
married women whom the 18-year-old Domitian is supposed to have
seduced in the months between Vitellius’s fall (December 69) and his
father’s return to Rome (?13 October 70).4° With characteristic use
of vituperatio, both Suetonius (Dom. 1.3) and Tacitus (Hist. 4.2)
refer to his sexual activities at this time, the immoral prince being
the precursor of the imperial monster. Probably, he married her late
in 70. At Dom. 22, Suetonius has Domitian persistently refusing to
marry his niece Julia at the same time as he was involved in an affair
with Domitia. Apparently more precise, Dio portrays Domitian
firstly as having various mistresses and then as devoting his
attentions solely to Domitia Longina at his Alban villa, ultimately
marrying her (66.3.4). Finally, Domitian’s first child was born when
he was consul for the second time, i.e. 73 (Dom. 3.1).*' So the
following timetable seems most likely: Vespasian returned to Rome
in October 70 with the news of Domitian’s unsatisfactory behaviour
still fresh in his mind (Hist. 4.51), tried but failed to arrange a
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dynastic marriage for him with Julia and subsequently acquiesced in
his son’s choice. There is no reason to doubt the genuineness of
Domitian’s affection for his wife.

Fait accompli or not, the marriage was politically advantageous
for Vespasian. Those senators less than enthusiastic at the prospect
of Vespasian as emperor would have viewed his son’s choice of wife
with cautious approval. Her ties with the so-called Stoic opposition
were one advantage. Her father, brother-in-law (Annius Vinicianus)
and his brother (Annius Pollio) were victims of the purge that had
followed the discovery of the Pisonian conspiracy:* Annius Pollio,
for instance, married to Barea Soranus’s daughter Servilia, had been
exiled, returning presumably not long before Domitian’s marriage.
So the expectation may have been that it would serve to counteract
senatorial opposition and even help to re-establish the Flavians’
connections with prominent Stoics, severed by Vespasian some six
years previously when he withdrew his friendship with Barea
Soranus and his ilk (Hist. 4.7) and had Titus divorce Barea Soranus’s
niece Marcia Furnilla, (Titus 4.2).%

The immediate advantage, though, was her father’s name and
reputation: he had been Nero’s most popular and successful general
and his reputation had not suffered by the manner of his death.
Twelve years in the east had gained him a substantial clientela not
least being the numerous senior officers whose future careers had
depended on him.* His enforced suicide was a disaster for them; his
daughter’s marriage in the new regime’s first year represented a
complete reversal of their fortunes.

In a more general way, though, marriage between Vespasian’s
son and Corbulo’s daughter was part of wider Flavian policy: the
new emperor strove to sever any Neronian ties or at least to distance
himself from his family’s achievements in the previous decade (thus
he was portrayed not so much as a member of Nero’s court but as
having been expelled from it), to stress any links with the more
respectable members of the Julio-Claudian dynasty (hence the
emphasis on Titus’s childhood friendship with Britannicus: Titus 2)
and to rehabilitate Nero’s victims or those disadvantaged by him
(hence Vespasian’s public statement that the award of Plautius
Silvanus’s triumphal ornamenta should not have been ‘left to me’:
ILS 986).

Not long after his accession, Domitian is said to have divorced
Domitia because of her adultery with the actor Paris, and then, after
a brief period of separation, to have taken her back, claiming that
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the people demanded it (Dom. 3.1). According to Dio, he even
planned to have her executed but was persuaded not to do so by
(L.Julius) Ursus; Paris was less fortunate, being murdered by
Domitian in the street (67.3.1). Soon after, despite having previously
refused to marry Julia (Dom. 22), he proceeded to live openly with
her (Dio 67.3.2) and even to set a date for their wedding
(Philostratus, Vita Apoll. 7.7). Finally, after being reconciled with
Donmitia, he still maintained the affair with Julia (Dio 67.3.2).
Much of this is implausible. Stories of imperial adultery are not
uncommon and should be regarded with suspicion. Paris* was a
well-known actor, to be more precise a pantomimus: by name,
profession, origin and status, he was not the sort of lover likely to be
chosen by the daughter of a Domitius Corbulo.* Nor is his exact
role at all clear. Juvenal describes him as an influential courtier as
well, ‘appointing men to military commands’ (7.88). More
interesting is his fate. The Lex Julia de adulteriis coercendis
permitted a husband to kill a man of Paris’s class ‘caught in the act
of adultery in his own home’; he had also to ‘divorce his wife without
delay’, and ‘if he does not do this, he does not slay with impunity’.*’
In the latter instance, he would be guilty of lenocinium.* The sources
would have one believe, however, that Domitian divorced his wife,
killed Paris in the public street, was later reconciled with her and
then remarried her, thereby infringing the Lex Julia not once but
twice. So, at a time when he was about to develop moral legislation,
having already been introduced as seducing ‘a nameless horde of
respectable matrons™® he is portrayed as completely disregarding
the legislation he was determined to reinforce. To underline the
vituperatio, Suetonius has Domitian hypocritically removing from
the list of jurors the name of an equestrian ‘for having taken back his
wife after divorcing her and charging her with adultery’ (8.3)—
applying the Lex Julia to others after infringing it himself with
impunity. To emphasize the point even further, Suetonius proceeds
immediately to describe his saevitia towards the Vestal Virgins (8.4),
in expected contrast to his criminal indulgence towards Domitia.*
The task remains to disentangle something like the truth from
these improbabilities. One observation must first be made. If
Domitian actually divorced his wife and then remarried her, it is
surprising that the sources have not commented on the rarity of such
an action, all but unprecedented in the Roman aristocracy.”! But he
did not divorce her,*? she was probably exiled c. 83, as was Tiberius
Julius Aug. lib.: then, after executing Sabinus IV and allowing his
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wife Julia to live (or remain living) in the palace, Domitian was
obliged to recall her to silence the malevolent rumours of some of his
courtiers. Perhaps she was guilty, not of adultery with one of the
court entertainers, but of showing him sufficient favour to excite
and inspire the malicious. Domitian’s preference for solitude (Dom.
21) may well have annoyed her, possibly her failure to produce
another son annoyed him. At all events, after a brief separation, she
returned to the palace and lived there with him until the
assassination. Dio’s bizarre story of Domitian personally killing an
actor in the street is highly unlikely,* as is the supposed affair with
Julia and its later development, the abortion he forced on her (Dom.
22; Juv. 2.29-33 and Ep. 4.11.6). Rumours about Julia/Domitian
and Paris/Domitia were very probably spread by the malevolent
section of the court and eagerly repeated by Pliny, Juvenal and other
post-Domitianic writers.

Some scholars have argued that a “Titus faction’ was in existence
for most, if not all of Domitian’s reign, that it was heavily involved
in the early conspiracies against him and that, since Aelius Lamia,
Domitia’s first husband, had been executed at that time, she too was
a member of it.** Included too was Julia, who has been seen as the
faction’s figurehead.’® Subsequently, its influence spread, with the
Ulpii, the Vettuleni, the Caesennii, Tiberius Julius Alexander and
Flavius Silva as its more significant members; Pegasus and Ursus
were moved from office as (so it is claimed) they were two of Titus’s
supporters and Civica Cerialis’s execution was the result of his ‘close
ties with Titus.”® Included as well should be the two patricians whom
Titus spared even though they had plotted against him (Titus 9.1).%
Their horoscopes, according to Titus, showed that danger threatened
them both, but at some future time, a prediction that turned out to
be true (Titus 9.2). But who were they? Since L. Salvius Otho
Cocceianus, Ser. Cornelius Scipio Salvidienus Orfitus and M’. Acilius
Glabrio were patricians executed by Domitian (Dom. 10.2), they
must, so it is argued, be possible candidates. All these, then, have
been claimed as members of the paries of Titus that had Julia for a
figurehead and Domitia as a supporter.

But the entire edifice is far from secure. Domitia’s involvement
with the partes of Titus is based on the early execution of Aelius
Lamia and, according to Castritius, on the affair between Titus and
Domitia.*® But even the rumours of her misconduct with him were
rejected by Suetonius (Titus 10.2); and there is no evidence
whatsoever to indicate that Domitia’s husband was put to death as
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early as 83. Equally dubious is the very existence of a “Titus faction’.
To take but one example—Ursus’s removal from office can be
explained by his lack of vigour as praetorian prefect. The existence
of the so-called partes of Titus lacks ancient support: the whole
theory should be discarded. Domitia was not part of the opposition.

She became pregnant again in 90, so it is often claimed.”® The
argument is based on the epigram of Martial assigned to that year
beginning ‘Be born...great child, to whom your father may entrust
...the everlasting reins [of empire]” (6.3). Reasonably enough, most®
have interpreted it as indicating that the emperor’s wife was
expecting a child. However, as has been pointed out®! this is by no
means certain. We know of only one child born to Domitia, a son in
73 (Dom. 3.1); he died young, as Martial’s epigram 4.3 confirms,
whilst, in another written after 6.3, he implies that Domitian still
had lost only one child (9.86).¢> Moreover, had there been a
miscarriage in 90, he would either have withdrawn 6.3 from
publication or else written a consolatio subsequently. It would seem,
then, that Martial was expressing a pious hope, nothing more.

The relationship between Domitian and his wife was officially
satisfactory, though she is far from prominent in the official
propaganda: Statius mentions her but once (Silvae 3.4.18), Martial
and Silius Italicus not at all, and her image appears on no coins after
84. On the other hand, Josephus (Vita 429) refers to the favours he
received from her, whilst Suetonius indicates that, at the very least,
she accompanied her husband to the amphitheatre (Dom. 13.1).

There remains her supposed involvement in Domitian’s murder,
reported by Suetonius (Dom. 14.1) and Dio (67.15.2-4); but even
Dio does not report her complicity or foreknowledge as a fact.
Rather, according to him, there was a report that she was not
unaware of the plot (67.15.2) or else, in a different version, she came
upon a list of Domitian’s prospective victims, passed it on to those
concerned and they hurried on the plot already begun (67.15.4).
The fact that Domitian was the victim of a court plot does not imply
the complicity of the entire court. On the contrary, other evidence
suggests she was at least moderately fond of her husband.

Twenty-five years after his death and the official damnatio
memoriae, she still referred to herself as ‘Domitian’s wife’: ten brick
stamps of 123 bear the inscription ‘from the Sulpician brickyards of
Domitia, [wife] of Domitian’ (CIL 15.548a-9d), whereas, on
another dated after 23 April 140 (and after her death), she is styled
‘Domitia Augusta, daughter of Gnaeus Domitius Corbulo’ (ILS
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272), no doubt the technically correct version of the name of an
imperial widow whose husband had suffered dammnatio. The
inference is clear; she deliberately called herself ‘Domitian’s wife’
when she could easily have avoided doing so.

Five centuries later, she is portrayed as devoted to her husband
despite his manifold failings. In his Secret History (8.12-22),
Procopius saw Domitian as similar in appearance and actions to his
béte noire, Justinian, whereas Domitia was always highly respected,
had wronged no one and had approved of none of her husband’s
actions.® After his death, however, she had collected the pieces of
his flesh (the people had ‘carved up his body’), sewed them together
and had had a sculptor use the result as a model for a statue.
Whatever we care to make of Procopius’s version of Domitian’s
assassination and his explanation for the statue’s appearance, it
would seem that there did exist a tradition less hostile to Domitia.
But, in essence, the literary sources virtually disregarded her except
in so far as she was deemed useful to highlight Domitian’s faults.
The standard charges of adultery and promiscuity,® regularly made,
difficult to disprove and impossible to verify, were also less firmly
established than the accusations levelled against her husband, but
they have served to obscure her role in the imperial court. Possibly,
she urged her husband to conciliate (or compromise) members of
the so-called opposition by offering them suffect consulships. We
have no means of knowing.

Julia

Domitian’s niece Julia® was born on 10 August® in the early 60s,
daughter of Titus and (almost certainly) his first wife Arrecina Tertulla.
According to the traditional view, recently restated,®” Suetonius was
referring to her in his comment that, shortly after the birth of a
daughter, Titus divorced his (second) wife, Marcia Furnilla (Titus 4.2).
But he had more than one daughter (Philostratus, Vit. Apoll. 7.7),
and, unlike Marcia Furnilla, Arrecina Tertulla did at least have close
relatives named Julius.® So Titus’s daughters should be named (Flavia)
Julia by Arrecina Tertulla and (Flavia)®® by Marcia Furnilla.

Some ten or eleven years younger than her uncle Domitian, she
was probably brought up by Julia, her maternal grandmother, and
Phyllis, Domitian’s own nurse: on his death, the latter mingled his
ashes with Julia’s, for she had reared them both (Dom. 17.3). In his
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mid-teens, he may well have helped take care of his young niece:
both of them had fathers absent in Judaea and mothers who were
dead. So it is not impossible that he was genuinely fond of her, but as
a friend only. Thus he rejected the repeated requests to divorce his
wife and marry her (Dom. 22), no doubt recalling as well the bitter
experience of his favourite emperor Tiberius (Dom. 20), forced to
divorce the wife he loved in order to marry the emperor’s daughter,
another Julia (Tib. 7.2). Late in Vespasian’s reign or early in Titus’s,
she married Sabinus IV and, not long after, was granted the title
Augusta.”® As early as this, Domitian is said to have seduced her
(Dom. 22), then, after executing her husband and divorcing Domitia,
to have lived with her openly (even after his wife’s return), finally
forcing her to have an abortion which killed her (Ep. 4.11.6; Sat.
2.29-33 and Dom. 22). Most of this is little more than a farrago of
nonsense.”! No doubt Julia was living in the palace (as other Flavian
members may well have been, given the size of the complex), for she
was able to persuade her uncle to spare another of her relatives, L.
Julius Ursus (Dio 67.4.2). All the rest is standard vituperatio.

Scholars seem not to have stressed one of the most significant
factors in assessing the rumour’s accuracy—Martial’s epigram 6.3,
written not long after Julia’s death and deification.” In it, he
expresses the hope that Domitia will produce a son, implies that the
baby’s name will be Julius (6.3.1) and states that (the now deified)
Julia will be able to watch over him (6.3.5). Martial was neither a
hero nor a fool. Had there been the slightest hint of an affair between
emperor and niece, he would hardly have written those lines; had
Julia’s recent death been caused by an abortion forced on her by
Domitian, would Martial have so far neglected the bounds of ‘safe
criticism’”® and commonsense as to humiliate Domitia publicly,
urging her to become pregnant, to give the child a name reminiscent
of her husband’s mistress and finally to remember that the same
mistress, now dead and deified (thanks to her husband), would be
able to protect the child?

There is a further point. Martial’s sixth book contains a number
of epigrams praising Domitian’s renewal of Augustus’s law against
adultery (the Lex Julia de adulteriis coercendis), in particular 6.2
and 6.4.7* Between them is the Julia epigram. The prominence given
to 6.3 indicates that there was no hint of anything improper in the
relationship between the emperor and his niece, as far as the court
knew. Martial would not wish to suggest so obviously to his readers
that Domitian was a hypocrite in renewing the Lex Julia, since he
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was involved not only in adultery but also just possibly in incest,
abortion and murder. Helvidius was about to overstep the bounds of
safe criticism (and he was appropriately punished: Dom. 10.4) by
discovering and emphasizing the parallel between Paris/Oenone and
Domitian/Domitia. Obviously, the rumours linking Domitia and
Paris were current during Domitian’s reign, whereas those linking
Julia’s death with a supposed affair with her uncle were not. They
were invented after his death.

L.Julius Ursus

His” precise connection with the Flavian family has been
disputed by scholars, but it seems that he was a direct descendant
of Julius Lupus (Ursus and Lupus are likely names for brothers),
tribune of the praetorian guard at the time of Gaius’s
assassination. According to Josephus (A] 19.191), Lupus was
related (by marriage, presumably) to Gaius’s praetorian prefect
M.Arrecinus Clemens: so Arrecinus’s wife was probably Lupus’s
sister Julia.”® Ursus, then, would have been one of the sons of the
tribune, the other being Ti. Julius Lupus, prefect of Egypt in the
initial years of Vespasian’s reign (PIR? J 390), proof enough of
the family’s reliability.””

We know that the Arrecini had long had close links with the
Flavians.”® Two of Arrecinus Clemens’s daughters had Flavian
husbands, so it seems, with Arrecina Tertulla married to
Vespasian’s son Titus and another (?Arrecina Clementina) the
probable wife of the emperor’s nephew T.Flavius Sabinus III.7
As well, his son, also M.Arrecinus Clemens, became praetorian
prefect some thirty years after his father, and, not long after
that appointment, his cousin Ti. Julius Lupus was promoted to
the second most important post open to an equestrian, the
prefecture of Egypt. The links were maintained for more than
one generation: Clementina’s son (Sabinus IV) married Tertulla’s
daughter Julia and was Domitian’s heir apparent (until
executed) whilst her grandsons, named Vespasianus and
Domitianus, were the emperor’s designated heirs at the time of
his assassination in 96. In addition, her brother Arrecinus not
only became city prefect,®® but was one of the very few persons
attested in the literary sources as a friend of Domitian (Hist.
4.68; Dom. 11).
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That the relationship between the Flavii and the Julii was also
close and remained so is suggested by a number of factors, not least
of which is the name of Titus’s daughter, (Flavia) Julia, who, in view
of her mother’s death c. 63 and her father’s absence in Judaea from
66 to 71, must have been brought up by her Julian relatives, in
particular by the wife of Gaius’s prefect, her maternal grandmother
Julia.®! She maintained a close relationship with the Julii, managing
to persuade her uncle Domitian to grant a consulship to L.Julius
Ursus in 84 (Dio 67.4.2). The following tentative stemma
summarizes these connections:

[Julius]

|

M. Arrecinus Clemens m. [Julia] Julius Lupus
I |
M. Arrecinus Arrecinam. Titus  [?Arrecina Ti. Julius L. Julius
Clemens Tertulla Clementina] Lupus Ursus
m. Sabinus III

| I

Julia m. Sabinus IV Flavius Clemens

| L
Vespasianus Domitianus

Just as L.Julius Ursus’s precise relationship with the Flavian family
has been the subject of scholarly debate, so too have been various
aspects of his career; but some facts are beyond dispute—a Julius
Ursus is attested (AE 1939:60) as holding two senior equestrian posts
under the Flavians, prefect of the corn supply (praefectus annonae)
and prefect of Egypt (praefectus Aegypti), whilst an [U]rsus is named
as consul (c. May 84) in the Fasti Ostienses.®? If this is one and the
same person, then three difficulties have to be faced: we need
evidence that Ursus rose to the most senior equestrian post, the
prefecture of the praetorian guard, then that he was granted
senatorial status and, finally, that he was promoted very rapidly to a
consulship.
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Fortunately, a papyrus (P.Berlin 8334) provides such evidence. In
it, an unnamed emperor is writing to a certain Maximus (?L.
Laberius Maximus, praefectus annonae and praefectus Aegypti),
informing him that he was to be made colleague of [Fluscus
(?Cornelius Fuscus, prefect of the praetorian guard at the dramatic
date of Juvenal’s fourth satire), a promotion resulting from the
transfer of a Julius to ‘the most honourable order’.®*> Now whilst
names such as ‘Maximus’ and ‘Julius’ are amongst the commonest,
‘-uscus’ is amongst the rarest; so it seems that Ursus is being
‘promoted’ or, more realistically, moved aside (i.e. ‘approbation,
elevation and castration, all in one stroke’®*) into the senate and that
the consequent vacancy in the praetorian guard is to be filled by
L.Laberius Maximus. Ursus, then, like his brother Lupus and cousin
Arrecinus, held senior equestrian posts under Vespasian and then
passed from praetorian prefect to senator and consul.

That Ursus was an intimate of the imperial court is clear from
Dio Cassius. Early in the reign, when Domitian ‘planned to put his
wife Domitia to death for adultery, he was dissuaded by Ursus’
(67.3.1); but, later, ‘he came close to putting Ursus to death for
failing to show pleasure at his sovereign’s exploits and then, at the
request of Julia, he appointed him consul’ (67.4.2). So Ursus was
somewhat unappreciative of Domitian’s victory in Germany and
therefore replaced, as leader of the praetorian guard, by someone
more forceful and vigorous in the mould of Cornelius Fuscus (Hist.
2.86). He must have remained as an imperial courtier, though, but
seems not to have held any administrative post under Domitian after
his consulship; then, with the accession of Trajan, he went onto a
second consulship in 98 and a third in 100.

The Julii remained prominent. Ursus’s adopted son, L.Julius Ursus
Servianus, married Hadrian’s sister and was awarded a suffect
consulship in 90, whilst his (probable) nephew, P.Julius Lupus, became
the second husband of Arria Fadilla and thereby stepfather of
Antoninus Pius.®* So he was an adept courtier who retained his
influence and position; nor did a disagreement with his imperial master
and relative result in disgrace or death. Quite the contrary, for both
problem and solution were in evidence on other occasions during the
reign: freedmen deemed unsuitable (Ti. Claudius Classicus) or guilty
of minor offences (Ti. Julius, father of Claudius Etruscus) were moved
aside or exiled (to Campania), not done to death.* So too with Ursus
who lacked the vigour of the Arrecini, proving unsatisfactory as guard
commander, but remaining a senator and courtier.
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M.Arrecinus Clemens

He was some ten years older than his cousin Ursus, more able in the
military sphere (i.e. as praetorian prefect)®” and far less so in the
political and diplomatic. Tacitus introduces him with a reference to
his adfinitas (Hist. 4.68) to the imperial family, a relationship
explained by his sisters’ marriages.® His career can be fairly well
documented. After the period as praetorian prefect, he was replaced
by Titus and, like his cousin Ursus, passed quickly to a consulship
(73), thence to the governorship of Spain,* returning by 85 to hold
a second (suffect) consulship. Not long afterwards he became city
prefect, possibly succeeding Pegasus.” His period of eminence was
brief, however, for he fell from favour.

In chapter 10 of his Life of Domitian, Suetonius provides a list of
the emperor’s consular victims. Apparently, it is meant to be
complete and it does include one imperial relative (T.Flavius Sabinus
IV), his brother Clemens being excluded, reserved for dramatic
purposes until chapter 15, where his death is a prelude to and an
explanation of the emperor’s assassination by his courtiers.
Arrecinus is not mentioned in chapter 10 but does appear in the
next, where he is the second of three examples of Domitian’s
unexpected cruelty: the emperor is ‘about to condemn him’ (Dom.
11.1). The implication of the passage is that the death sentences were
carried out in all cases, but Suetonius is not explicit. The passage is
very reminiscent of his Nero 37, where he gives three instances of
the emperor’s lack of restraint by ‘murdering whomsoever he pleased
on any pretext’. Once again, as in Dom. 11, Suetonius means to
illustrate imperial saevitia (Dom. 10.1; Nero 36.1), an oft-repeated
vice in rhetorical invective; but, of Nero’s three ‘victims’, only the
first and third were killed, the second (Cassius Longinus) being
merely exiled (Ann. 16.9) and later actually recalled to Rome by
Vespasian (Digest 12.2.52).°! Perhaps Arrecinus was also exiled, and
he may well be the M. Arrecinus Clemens commemorated at Rudiae
(in the extreme head of Italy) by his wife Cornelia Ocell(in)a.*?

Whilst the reasons for Arrecinus’s fall from grace are unknown,
we might observe that, in 86, when Domitian was on the Danube
together with his praetorian prefect, Cornelius Fuscus, he needed an
urban prefect he could trust. Arrecinus fitted the bill. In 69, when
‘the city must not be left without an administrator’ (Hist. 4.68), he
had been made praetorian prefect because of his adfinitas to the
imperial house and friendship with Domitian (4.68). Once again, he
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was given a position of trust, and for the same reasons, no doubt.
But his conduct may have been unsatisfactory. On 22 September 87,
the Arval brothers offered sacrifice ‘for the detected crime of wicked
men’, the usual euphemism for the discovery of a conspiracy directed
against the emperor.” As well, Dio refers to the slaughter of a
number of prominent men around this time (67.9.6).

Finally, there is the rather surprising selection of the novus homo
L.Minicius Rufus as ordinary consul for 88. Possibly,” the senator
designated to the ordinary consulship for that year perished before
entering office, accused of complicity in the scelera nefariorum, and
was replaced by Rufus. But could it not rather be that Domitian was
not entirely satisfied with Arrecinus Clemens’s performance as
praefectus urbi during the events of 87, that he was suspected of
inefficiency or worse, and was consequently exiled? In that case, the
ordinary consulship to which he had been designated would have
been awarded to the intended suffectus, Minicius Rufus. Such a
reconstruction is highly speculative, but does at least provide an
explanation for Clemens’s fall from favour.”

Whatever his fate, he left behind a son, so it seems, also named
M.Arrecinus Clemens. At some point in Domitian’s reign, he held
the post of assistant to the curator of the water supply, M’. Acilius
Aviola.”® Nothing else is known of him or of his mother, Cornelia
Ocell(in)a; the family disappears from record.

The cousins Ursus and Clemens enjoyed their imperial relative’s
favour and experienced his disfavour, but Ursus, the more adept
courtier and politician, not only survived, but also saw his family’s
connections move from equestrian rank to imperial. He certainly
and Clemens possibly avoided the imperial saevitia. Two other
imperial relatives, the brothers T.Flavius Sabinus (IV) and T. Flavius
Clemens, were less fortunate.

T.Flavius Sabinus

After Domitian refused to marry his niece Julia (Dom. 22), she was
given instead to T.Flavius Sabinus, the grandson of Vespasian’s
brother.”” Tradition, however, has it that Domitian seduced her while
Titus was still alive (Dom. 22). With this should be considered
another incident from the period before Titus’s death. Domitian,
vexed that Sabinus IV had clad his attendants in imperial white, had
delivered a Homeric warning: “The rule of many is not good’ (Dom.
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12.3).”8 His meaning was clear and his annoyance understandable.
Sabinus, as husband of the daughter of the reigning or future”
emperor, would always be ominously senior and was prepared to
advertise the fact by the colour of his attendants’ clothes: such, at
least, must have been the attitude of Domitian, ever suspicious over
his personal safety (Dom. 14.1-2).

Two points need further elaboration: firstly, the precise status of
Sabinus in the Flavian family, four members of which bore the name
T.Flavius Sabinus. The first had two sons, Sabinus IT and Vespasian.
The third, cos. I suff. 69, Il suff. 72, was almost certainly the son of
Sabinus II. Let him be Sabinus III, with the Sabinus who married
Julia (Sabinus IV) as one of his sons and the T.Flavius Clemens'®
whom Domitian executed in 95 as the other. But when did Sabinus
I die? Of some importance is the Flavius Sabinus of CIL 6.814,
according to which a temple had been constructed during the reign
of Titus on a plot of ground which had been approved by Flavius
Sabinus in his role of curator of public works, normally a consular
post. Presumably he was one of the four Sabini. Sabinus I was killed
in 69, whilst Sabinus IV’s first consulship can be assigned to the year
after Titus’s death. Sabinus III seems indicated. Normally, the
curatorship was held fairly soon after a senator’s consulship,'*!
which, in this case, would suggest the early 70s. If so, one is left to
wonder why the construction was so long delayed. Now some
scholars suggest that the Flavius Sabinus of CIL 6.814 was still alive
in Titus’s reign,'%? though that is not stated in the inscription. Indeed,
the tense of the verb suggests a time-lapse of some years between the
approval of the site and the actual construction of the temple. On
that hypothesis, the curatorship should be assigned to Sabinus III
and to the period immediately after his consulship, i.e. the years 70
or 71, when the dynasty was being established, whereas the temple
itself could perhaps have been erected a decade later, as part of
Titus’s restoration work after the disastrous fire of 80 (Titus 8.3;
Dio 66.24.1; Epit. de Caes. 10.12). This hypothesis is far from
certain, but the nature of the reference to Sabinus in CIL 6.814
suggests strongly that he was no longer alive when Titus became
emperor. He had certainly died before October 81, since it was
Sabinus IV whom Domitian chose at that time to be his colleague as
ordinary consul for 82. So Sabinus IV may have been ‘ominously
senior’ for some years before 81.

The other point is his designation to the ordinary consulship for
82. For a long time, scholars believed that the appointment was due
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to Titus and that it had been made at the comitia in March 81.1%
That view is clearly erroneous; the designation was made by
Domitian, at the October comitia, held just after his accession. The
critical inscription is CIL 3.12218, where Titus is described as
holding tribunician power for the tenth time (i.e. from 1 July 80 to
30 June 81) and as designated to his ninth consulship (so after March
81). The date must be after the designation of the brothers to the
ordinary consulship for 82 (at the comitia of March 81) and before
the end of Titus’s tenth tribunician power expired (June 81).1%* So
Titus had intended that he and his brother hold the ordinary
consulship in 82 and the announcement was made at the March
comitia. But Titus died on 13 September 81, and, at the second
consular comitia for that year, held in October,'® he was replaced by
Sabinus. It was not unparalleled for designations to the ordinary
consulship to be announced at the second comitia in October rather
than at the first in March. Compare the situation in 58. In the
minutes of the Arval Brethren for that year, C.Vipstanus Apronianus
appears simply as a member on 25 February, 12 October and 13
October but as cos. desig. on 6 November, 11 December and 15
December. At the meeting of 3 January 59, he is listed as cos. ord.1%

In 81, then, Sabinus was the senior Flavian after the emperor
himself and so Domitian’s inevitable choice as ordinary consul, for
each of the Flavian emperors was concerned with establishing or
maintaining a dynasty, each of them held that post in the first year of
his reign with the heir-apparent as his colleague—Vespasian and
Titus in 70, Titus and Domitian in 80, Domitian and Sabinus in 82.
Domitian’s personal attitude to Sabinus was irrelevant. Titus had
died in September, Domitian had no colleague as cos. ord. for the
first year of his reign and the October comitia were uncomfortably
close. He had little more than a month to act.

Now, according to Suetonius (Dom. 10.4), Sabinus IV was
executed because of the herald’s unfortunate lapse at the consular
comitia (when he announced him as imperator, not as consul), and
some have posited'?” a second consular designation for him, even
though there is no evidence in any of the sources that he was ever
offered one. On the contrary, Suetonius and Dio together imply that
he was executed very early in the reign, not long after his consulship
for 82. The former claims that Julia lived openly with Domitian after
her father and husband were dead (Dom. 22) and Dio places the
couple’s unconcealed living together (67.3.2) before the executions
of the Vestals (67.3.32) and the outbreak of the war against the
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Chatti (67.4.1), i.e. well before the summer of 83.'% So the mistaken
announcement at the renuntiatio before the people (Dom. 10.4) took
place in October 81 and was resurrected at a later date (though not
far beyond 82) when it would still have had some immediacy.

Cautiously and with due reserve, a more precise date for Sabinus’s
execution can be suggested. In his Historia Ecclesiastica, Eusebius
reports that Domitian put to death and banished many prominent
men (3.17) and repeats the same information in the Chronicorum
Canonum (though executions are mentioned in the Syrian epitome
only) under A. Abr. 2099 (i.e. 1 October 82-30 September 83). As
well, before describing the executions of the Vestals, Dio says that
the emperor murdered and banished many of the foremost men on
various pretexts (67.3.3'). If we care to accept the accuracy of these
statements, bearing in mind that the first comment of Eusebius is
undated (3.17), that, in the Chronicorum Canonum, reference to
executions occurs in the Syrian epitome only and that in none of
them Sabinus is mentiond by name, then we could well argue that,
between 1 October 82 and 28 August 83, a number of leading
men, including Domitian’s heir, were put to death.

But, that tentative reconstruction aside, it is clear that Sabinus
was dead before Domitian left for Germany. Once the consular
elections of October 81 were over, Domitian set about removing a
prospective rival. Self-preservation was ever uppermost in his mind.

T.Flavius Clemens
Sabinus’s younger brother, Clemens,'!° is a far more shadowy figure.
Presumably, he and his brother Sabinus, together with their father
Sabinus III, were the liberi whom Vespasian’s brother had managed
to bring into the Capitol in December 69, accompanied by the 18-
year-old Domitian (Hist. 3.69). Their mother was probably Arrecina
Clementina, a sister of M.Arrecinus Clemens and of Arrecina
Tertulla; but the name is not epigraphically attested anywhere.!!!
Clemens himself married Flavia Domitilla (PIR? F 418), daughter of
Domitian’s sister (F 417) and (so it seems) Q.Petillius Cerialis Caesius
Rufus;''? the latter already had two sons by an earlier marriage,
Q.Petillius Rufus (cos. IT ord. 83) and C.Petillius Firmus (who died
young),'® both half-brothers of Domitilla. So both husband and wife
were perilously close to the throne, for Clemens’s brother and
Domitilla’s half-brother shared the ordinary consulship with
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Domitian in the first (Sabinus IV) and second (Rufus) years of the
reign, and that honour was generally reserved for the emperor’s
heirs. 't

They had seven children (ILS 1839), two of whom, ‘though very
young, were openly designated Domitian’s successors’ (Dom. 15.1)
and their names changed to (T.Flavius) Domitianus (PIR* F 257)
and (T.Flavius) Vespasianus (F 397). Their education had been
entrusted to Quintilian, probably ¢. 90, for which (presumably)
he received the rare award of ornamenta consularia''® (Ausonius,
Grat. Act. 10.7.204) that provoked bitter resentment on the part of
some senators at least: ‘Fortune, you are making fun of us. You are
turning senators into teachers and teachers into senators’ (Ep.
4.11.2)."7 In 95, Clemens was appointed ordinary consul with the
emperor, no doubt to groom his sons for the succession. He was in
office until 1 May,!'*® but, not long after, was charged with ‘atheism’:
according to Dio, he was executed and his wife exiled to Pandateria
(67.4.1-2). The fate of his children is unknown. Suetonius believed
that it was Clemens’s execution that hastened Domitian’s own end
(Dom. 15.1), and some support is provided by the fact that one of
the prime movers was Domitilla’s freedman, Stephanus (Dom. 17.1).
Philostratus claims that his action was foretold by a portent—a halo
(in Greek, stephanos) surrounded the sun and dimmed its brilliance
(Vita Apoll. 8.23) and that Stephanus wanted to avenge Clemens or,
indeed, every one of Domitian’s victims (Vita Apoll. 8.25).
Suetonius’s explanation is less imaginative: Stephanus had been
charged with theft (Dom. 17.1). Finally, the precise nature of
Clemens’s ‘atheism’ is disputed: some have argued that they were
both Christians (or Christian sympathizers), others that they
favoured Judaism.!” In neither case is the evidence convincing.

Other relatives

Other members of the imperial family, less significant in court circles,
can be noted briefly. Three women bore the name Flavia Domitilla—
Domitian’s mother, sister and niece: the first two were dead before
he became emperor and the third married Flavius Clemens.!?° Early
Christian writers (e.g. Hist. Eccl. 18.4) argued for a fourth, niece of
Flavius Clemens (i.e. daughter of a supposed sister), and have won
acceptance from some scholars. She can safely be discarded.'?! There
was also Sabinus II’s sister, Flavia Sabina, who married L.Junius
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Caesennius Paetus;'? his sons (possibly by different wives) included
another L.Junius Caesennius Paetus and L.Caesennius Sospes.'?* It
may be simply coincidental or perhaps indicative of the emperor’s
determination to look for loyalty in his administrators that the
younger Paetus, cos. suff. 79, was (so it seems) proconsul of Asia in
93/4, whilst at the same time his (?half-)brother Sospes was
praetorian governor of Galatia.'?* At all events, this branch of the
family is the only one attested in the second century, with an
L.Caesennius Sospes (the Galatian governor or, just possibly, his son)
cos. stiff, in 114 and a descendant, A Junius Pastor L.Caesennius
Sospes (PIR? ] 796), cos. stiff, in 163.
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AMICI

The courtiers with the widest political and military experience were
the imperial amici,' those ‘friends’ the emperor consulted before
coming to any important decision. They were ‘the most valuable
instrument of good government’, according to Helvidius Priscus (Hist.
4.7); Suetonius thought that Titus’s were ‘indispensable to the state’
(Titus 7.2) and one of Domitian’s amici, Trajan, is supposed to have
said that Domitian was the worst of emperors but had good amici
(SHA Alex. 65.5), perhaps a not entirely unbiased opinion. Even the
astute Vespasian was not adverse to giving two of his, Vibius Crispus
and Eprius Marcellus, a completely free rein (Dial. 8.3). But if their
power and influence is well attested, their identity is often not. Most
scholars agree that there was no fixed list of friends, but that, usually,
the same people were summoned for consultation.? Most would have
been senators, but prominent equestrians were frequently included:
the elder Pliny, for instance, was summoned to Vespasian’s presence
before daybreak (Ep. 2.5.9) and the praetorian prefect was the
‘guardian of the sacred side’ (Martial 6.76.1).> Amici of senatorial
rank, apart from those precisely attested as such in literary, epigraphic
or papyrological sources, probably included the consules II, the
praefectus urbi and the curator aquarum.* Rarely are these courtiers
mentioned in the literary sources, but, with Domitian, we are
particularly fortunate in that we have five references to them, the most
useful being the four surviving lines of Statius’s De Bello Germanico
(naming Glabrio senior, Veiento, Messallinus and Crispus) and
Juvenal’s fourth satire (with those four and six more—Pegasus,
Montanus, Pompeius, Rubrius, Fuscus and Crispinus).’®
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Whereas members of the imperial family and the senior freedmen
resided at court, his amici were summoned only when needed. Over
twenty can be attested including politicians, generals and the
praetorian prefects.® Amongst them were his two successors together
with the grandfather of Antoninus Pius, all three given the rare
honour of an ordinary consulship. An overview of what is known of
these courtiers reveals the sort of expertise readily available to the
emperor, though not necessarily the extent to which he availed
himself of it. In theory, too, we should be able to gain an idea of the
sort of person whose company he enjoyed; that information,
unfortunately, emerges far less clearly.

Politicians

M. Acilius Aviola and the Acilii Glabriones. The elder Acilius
Glabrio is at times identified with M’. Acilius Aviola, but it is
probably better to regard them as two different senators:” for what
it is worth, that is the view of the scholiast on Juvenal’s fourth satire,
and, if true, little can be said of Glabrio senior beyond the fact that,
at the dramatic date of the satire, he was about 80. Almost certainly,
he can be regarded as one of Domitian’s best-known amici since his
name, together with that of Veiento, Crispus and Messallinus,
appeared in Statius’s poem parodied by Juvenal.® Aviola, on the other
hand, an amicus of Claudius,’ was ordinary consul in 54, served as
proconsul of Asia late in Nero’s reign and then as curator of the
water supply from 74 to 97. Apparently, he was an experienced
administrator and trusted advisor, but with no attested military
experience.

The Acilii Glabriones, father and son, were of a patrician family,
but that did not save the younger Acilius.!® Appointed ordinary
consul in 91 with M.Ulpius Traianus, he was the same year
summoned to Domitian’s Alban palace, and obliged to fight a huge
lion, which he promptly killed (Dio 67.14.3); not to be outdone, the
emperor then exiled him on a charge of plotting revolution (Dom.
10.2) and later had him put to death on the grounds of ‘atheism, a
charge on which many others who had drifted into Jewish ways were
condemned’ (Dio 67.14.2-3). So perhaps he was suspected of having
Jewish sympathies; on the other hand, since a second-century Acilius
Glabrio is known to have been a Christian, there are some scholars
who believe that he was one as well.!* Probably he was neither.
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T.Aurelius Fulvus'? was somewhat more active. After gaining
military experience as commander of the IIl Gallica under Corbulo
in the east, Fulvus, a provincial from Nemausus, continued as legate
when the legion was sent to Moesia where it defeated the Roxolani
(Hist. 1.79). Largely instrumental in persuading the Illyrian armies
to join Vespasian (Hist. 2.74, 85), he was rewarded by being
summoned to Vespasian (Hist. 3.10) in the critical period between
the death of Vitellius in December 69 and the new emperor’s
departure from Alexandria for Rome in August or September®® in
the following year. Appointed consul in the early years of the new
regime and raised to patrician rank in 73/4, he held various senior
posts under Vespasian and Domitian, but only three are attested—a
governorship of Spain, a second consulship (ordinary, with Domitian
in 85) and the city prefecture. He was well connected in the local
aristocracy, a prominent member of the ‘Hispano-Narbonensian
nexus’ that developed late in the first century—becoming, in fact,
the grandfather of Antoninus Pius.' A senior consular of wide
experience, he would have been an invaluable member of Domitian’s
court.

M.Cocceius Nerva,” the future emperor, was another of his
political advisors. He must have been widely identified with the pro-
Domitianic group in the senate just before the emperor’s death in
view of Mauricus’s comments not long after (Ep. 4.22.4-7).

As praetor designate in 65, Nerva had been honoured with a
statue and triumphal ornamenta for his role in detecting the Pisonian
conspiracy (Ann. 15.72; ILS 273) and he managed not only to
survive the civil war, but also to emerge as the new regime’s
favourite, for he was one of only four senators in Vespasian’s reign
(apart from members of the imperial family) to be awarded an
ordinary consulship, and the only person other than Titus to share
an ordinary consulship with Vespasian. Even more significantly, he
held it very early in the regime (71), about four months after
Vespasian’s arrival in Rome.!* Again, he was highly honoured by
Domitian, receiving yet another ordinary consulship in the year after
the suppression of Saturninus’s revolt. That he should have been
present at the meeting imagined by Juvenal is certain, but the satirist
wisely omitted from his list those Domitianic amici whose
descendants remained powerful—hence, too, the non-appearance of
L.Julius Ursus, whose adopted son, L.Julius Ursus Servianus, was
Hadrian’s brother-in-law.!” Nerva appears to have been an adaptable
diplomat with neither military nor administrative experience, able
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to influence decisions by subtle manoeuvring. It was this that gained
him admission to Domitian’s court and also the throne.

A.Didius Gallus Fabricius Veiento!® was one of the most
interesting of his senatorial amici, frequently but erroneously
classified as an informer during the so-called reign of terror."” Praetor
perhaps in 54, he had already been adopted by the eminent Claudian
senator A.Didius Gallus (consul in 39, governor of Britain from 52
to 57).2° It may also have been under Claudius, whose comes Gallus
was, that a link was forged between his family and the Flavii, for
Domitian’s father and uncle commanded two of Claudius’s legions
in the British invasion. Later, Veiento held three consulships, two of
them awarded by Flavian emperors (Titus in 80 and Domitian almost
certainly in 83)?! and is generally supposed to have been an amicus
of all the emperors from Vespasian to Trajan.

It was under Nero that Veiento achieved some sort of eminence:
during his praetorship, he became one of the earliest known strike-
breakers: when the horsebreeders and charioteers were unwilling to
take part in the circus races on reasonable terms, Veiento dismissed
them, trained dogs to draw the chariots and used them in place of
the horses (Dio 61.6.2-3).

Still not the wise statesman, he remained an intimate of Nero’s
court, but unable to restrain himself, incurred the penalty of exile
from Italy for publishing libellous pamphlets attacking various
senators and priests (Ann. 14.50). With age came wisdom. He
retained an interest in matters religious, becoming an expert in them
apparently and holding (not necessarily all at once) the
exceptionally?? large number of four priesthoods (ILS 1010). No
doubt this endeared him to Domitian, who was genuinely concerned
with such observances (Dom. 4-5): hence the introductory remarks
assigned to Veiento by Juvenal when the fish was produced—You
[i.e. Domitian] will have a mighty omen of a great and brilliant
triumph’ (4.124-5).

We need not disregard Statius’s assessment of him (in the De Bello
Germanico) as a wise and powerful statesman. Statius names him
‘Fabius Veiento’, recalling yet another shrewd tactician, Fabius
Maximus Cunctator, whose wise (but negative) tactics overcame
both Hannibal and the more adventurous Roman military
commanders, perhaps just as Domitian’s were destined to do. There
is no evidence that Veiento ever governed a province or commanded
an army; perhaps the reason for the inscription at Mainz (ILS 1010),
where his third consulship is noted, is to be explained by his presence
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there as Domitian’s comes, presumably in the Chattan war. In view
of Statius’s reference to him as ‘Fabius’, he may well have been sent
to point out to the military commanders at the double camp the
advantages of the imperial strategy that must have seemed close to
cowardice to most of them. Convincing them needed and perhaps
tested the talents of Domitian’s ‘sagacious’ statesman. As expected,
Veiento not only survived the emperor’s downfall but retained his
role both at court (appearing at one of Nerva’s dinner parties: Ep.
4.22.4) and in the Senate (speaking in favour of the supporters of the
ancien régime: Ep. 9.13.19). In short, he was one of Domitian’s most
experienced political advisors.

T.Junius Montanus’s attributes included neither diplomacy nor
political astuteness. Juvenal introduces him as a slow, fat epicure,?
noted for his staying-power at Nero’s banquets (4.137) and an ability
to determine the origin of any oyster at the very first bite (4.138).
His identity is a mystery. Some scholars favour Curtius Montanus,
others T.Junius Montanus.?* The latter came from Alexandria in the
Troad where his father (AE 1938:173) had established himself as a
colonist in the early years of the first century, and is known to have
begun his senatorial career (AE 1973:500) under Nero as triumvir
monetalis, the most prestigious section of the vigintivirate. Usually,
it was reserved for patricians, which Montanus was not; perhaps an
affinity with Nero helped him. At all events, his subsequent career
was unspectacular, a military tribunate in Moesia with the V
Macedonica, a quaestorship in Pontus-Bithynia, a tribunate of the
people, praetorship and proconsulship of Sicily. When he held these
posts is not attested, but, since he was consul in 81, his praetorship
has to be assigned to the first years of Vespasian’s reign (or the last
part of Nero’s), indicating that all the previous posts were, as one
might suspect, granted by Nero. Vespasian did not think much of
him, giving him merely a praetorian proconsulship, a post whose
holders ‘seldom came to anything’.® In May/June 80, the genial
Montanus held a suffect consulship,® awarded by Titus, whose
assessment, it is clear, differed substantially from Vespasian’s;
perhaps Montanus and Titus had known each other at Nero’s court,
for they must have been of about the same age. One of the first
consuls ever appointed from the Greek east,”” he must, on Titus’s
death, have retained imperial favour and his place at court for his
conviviality rather than for any other discernible quality.

(Plot)tius Pegasus,”® whom Domitian appointed as prefect of the
city not long after his accession, was certainly more able and
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probably more honourable. In Juvenal’s fourth satire, he was the
first member of the emperor’s consilium to be admitted to the
meeting, ‘the best and most righteous interpreter of the laws, a man
who thought that, even in those terrible days, there should be no
sword in the hands of justice’ (4.78-81). He was so honourable that
the city was astonished (4.77) at his appointment,” and there is no
good reason to disregard Juvenal’s assessment. Pegasus had an
interesting career. He must have been awarded a consulship not long
after Vespasian’s accession since he had governed several provinces
before becoming city prefect.®® One of them was Dalmatia, where he
appointed as a judge his military tribune C.Petillius Firmus (AE
1967:355), now thought to have been the stepson of Vespasian’s
daughter Domitilla®! and also acting commander of the legion IV
Flavia Felix under Rubrius Gallus: quite often, a governor appointed
one of his relatives as military tribune, so perhaps Pegasus was
related to the Petillii.3? If so, it would help to explain the activities of
Pegasus’s brother Grypus in 69/70, an agent of Mucianus (Hist.
3.52) and secret supporter of the Flavians.* At all events, he and his
brother were committed Flavians at the right time and, despite their
comparatively humble background and possibly eastern origin, were
amply rewarded.

But Pegasus had other attributes as well. He was one of the
leading jurisconsults of the age, head of the Proculian School of
Roman law: his suffect consulship presumably followed soon after
that of Nerva, whose father and grandfather were both leading
Proculians.® It is not beyond the bounds of probability that
Domitian made him city prefect and courtier primarily because of
his legal ability, for the emperor was famous for his ‘scrupulous and
conscientious’ administration of the law (Dom. 8.1).3

M.Pompeius Silvanus Staberius Flavinus®® was probably an
imperial amicus and member of the consilium for the first year or so
of the reign—on the assumption that he is to be identified with the
Pompeius of Juvenal 4.110.5” Aged about 80 on Domitian’s
accession, he apparently died before assuming the third consulship
to which he was designated for 83: on that basis, he should be
classified with the regime’s loyal and dependable supporters. In brief,
his career was long but undistinguished. Born c¢. AD 3, he became
consul in 45, two years before Vespasian’s elder brother Sabinus II,
and later governed Africa for three years (56-8). Escaping
prosecution for embezzlement there, he next appears as legate of
Dalmatia in 69, and as a participator in the march on Rome against

55



EMPEROR DOMITIAN

Vitellius. During the 70s, he prospered, holding the curatorship of
the water supply (71-3) and a second consulship (?74). For Tacitus,
his most memorable qualities were his age and wealth: he twice refers
to them—in 58 (Ann. 13.42) and in 69 (Hist. 2.86). Domitian, on
the other hand, may perhaps have found him sympathetic through
his religious interests: he held three priesthoods. More ominous is
Juvenal’s assessment—he was one of the delatores. But at least he
brought to the court two essential qualities—experience and
dependability.

Q.Julius Cordinus C.Rutilius Gallicus®® was younger than
Silvanus, but of much the same age as Pegasus. After commanding
the XV Apollinaris early in Nero’s reign when it was stationed at
Carnuntum in Pannonia, he served under Corbulo in the Cappa-
docia-Galatia area, was awarded a consulship early in Vespasian’s
reign, held a special appointment in Africa supervising the census c.
73/4, governed Lower Germany towards the end of the reign and
was appointed proconsul of Asia* by Domitian not long after his
accession to the throne. After a second consulship in 85, he became
city prefect, probably after Arrecinus Clemens and before Aurelius
Fulvus. His practical experience, derived from service on the
Danube, Rhine and in the east, must have been invaluable to the
emperor.

C.Calpetanus Rantius Quirinalis Valerius Festus®* was almost
certainly the Festus whom Martial describes as an amicus of
Domitian (1.78.10). He died by his own hand early in the reign. In
the turmoil of 68/9, he appears as commander of the legion III
Augusta in Numidia: a young man ‘of extravagant habits and
immoderate ambition’ (Hist. 4.49), he was concerned about the fact
that he was related to Vitellius, and rightly so. However, he proved
his reliability to the new regime by arranging for the murder of Piso,
the proconsul of Africa who favoured the Vitellians (Hist. 4.50; Ep.
3.7.12). In return, he was quickly honoured with a suffect
consulship, which he shared with Domitian, and also with consular
military dona; thence came the curatorship of the Tiber’s banks and
the command of two imperial consular provinces, Pannonia and
Spain. His career stands in stark contrast with that of Montanus, for
they were of approximately the same age, both praetors late in
Nero’s reign. But only one found favour with Vespasian, and for
obvious reasons.

In Titus’s reign, he may have been appointed proconsul of Asia.*!
He held two priesthoods, the most important of which was the
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pontificate, awarded just after his consulship. In this, his interests
coincided with those of Domitian, and so it is to be assumed that,
during the consulship they shared in May and June 71, the 20-year-
old prince found him congenial as well as ruthless. Add to this his
proven loyalty and service to the regime by the end of the decade
and he was a natural choice as one of Domitian’s amici.

L.Valerius Catullus Messallinus,* another of his consular
colleagues from the 70s, was probably just as congenial: he certainly
had the reputation of being ruthless. He shared an ordinary
consulship with Domitian in 73 and held a second as suffect in 85
with Rutilius Gallicus. No other official post is known. Subsequently,
he was regarded as the most hated of the professional accusers of the
era, and feared all the more because of his blindness. According to
Tacitus, his influence was confined to the Alban villa (Agr. 45.1); but
Juvenal’s verdict is harsh—Catullus is ‘deadly’ (mortiferus: 4.113).

L.Junius Q.Vibius Crispus* was one of the four Domitianic amici
mentioned by Statius (De Bello Germanico) and Juvenal (4.81-93).
His formal career is well attested. An experienced administrator, he
held a suffect consulship and the curatorship of the water supply
under Nero, continuing in the latter post until 71, when he became
proconsul of Africa, then governor of Spain, returning to Rome in
74 for a second consulship. Under Domitian came the rare award of
a third.

A number of ancient authorities comment on his personal
qualities. Born ¢. AD 12, his wealth, acquired presumably through
delation (Hist. 2.10), became as legendary** as did his usefulness to
whoever was in control of the state (Juv. 4.84). A ‘born playboy’,*
he was famed for his personal charm and wit.* The latter is better
attested than the former: unable to maintain the pace during one of
Vitellius’s drinking bouts, he was forced by illness to absent himself
for a few days and was reputed to have said that, if he had not been
sick, he would have died (Dio 65.2.3). But his power, too, was a by-
word, whether in 60 (Ann. 14.28) or in the 70s (Dial. 8) and we are
entitled to wonder about the origin of the ‘L. Junius’ in his name, a
prefix shared with the Flavian relative, L. Junius Caesennius Paetus.
Crispus was the survivor par excellence—a Neronian consular
official, drinking companion of Vitellius (Dio 65.2.3), senior advisor
to Vespasian and amicus of Domitian. Juvenal attests to this same
quality—Crispus never swam against the stream, and, although no
one could have been a more useful advisor to Domitian, he limited
his conversation with the emperor to safe topics—how wet it’s been,
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how hot; never uttering his private opinions or staking his life on the
truth, he managed to survive, even in Domitian’s court (4.93), by
using techniques such as these.*’

Generals

Rubrius Gallus. Of the generals classified* as amici of Domitian,
the oldest was Rubrius Gallus.* He had served under Nero and Otho
(Dio 63.27.1; Hist. 2.51) and later acted as an agent for Vespasian’s
brother, Flavius Sabinus (Hisz. 2.99). Appointed governor of Moesia
on the accession of the Flavians, he drove out the Sarmatians and
strengthened the province’s defences (BJ 7.92-5). No doubt his
specialized knowledge was of assistance to Domitian in his Danubian
campaigns. Juvenal (4.106) refers to his sexual excesses and the
scholiast on that author claims that Gallus seduced Domitia
(presumably the empress) when she was young, a statement
unsupported by any other evidence.

Cn. Julius Agricola. Some scholars®® have argued that Agricola®
was one of Domitian’s amici, others®? that he was one of those
friends of Vespasian disgraced or ruined (Dio 67.2.1-3) by Domitian.
That he was an amicus of Vespasian and Titus is a fair assumption,
in view of his prolonged tenure of Britain, but the fact that Domitian
was named in his will (Agr. 43.4)% is not proof that he was an
imperial amicus in the 80s. On the other hand, he was the only one
of Domitian’s generals (including Funisulanus Vettonianus,
Cornelius Nigrinus and, as far as we know, Tettius Julianus) to
receive ornamenta triumphalia from him, and, so it seems, a vir
triumphalis was not normally sent to another command**—another
explanation, then, for his non-appointment to Syria (Agr. 40.2).
Nonetheless, it is unlikely that he was one of Domitian’s courtiers.
When he finally came to Rome c. 84, he slipped into the Palace by
night (noctu in Palatium: 40.3), stayed briefly and withdrew into
retirement (40.4). In any case, Domitian must have regarded his
expansionist projects as unattainable (e.g. his claim that Ireland
could be conquered and held by one legion and a few auxiliaries:
Agr. 24) and was surely disillusioned by his failure to complete the
conquest of Britain in 82 as Agricola had promised.*

Sex. Julius Frontinus.’® After military successes as a legionary
commander against Civilis in 70—some 70,000 of the Lingones
surrendered to him (Strat. 4.3.1-4)—and a consulship early in
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Vespasian’s reign, Frontinus was appointed governor of Britain,
subsequently served in Domitian’s war against the Chatti, either as
an imperial comes or else as governor of Lower Germany,”” and then
became proconsul of Asia (c. 85). With the accession of Nerva, he
was appointed curator of the water supply (replacing Acilius Aviola),
served on the emperor’s economic commission, received a second
(suffect) consulship in 98 and, in 100, was granted the unusual
honour of a third, ordinary, consulship which he shared with the
emperor Trajan. During this time, he had also written on military
strategy (Strategemata) and aqueducts (De Aquis urbis Romae), both
of which works survive. A senator of many talents, loyal and
experienced, he was the most capable of the generals, but the tone of
his comments®® on Domitian, written before 96, indicate that he was
malleable and adaptable; whether from conviction or fear, he would
have encouraged Domitian’s initiatives in foreign policy.

A.Bucius Lappius Maximus and M.Ulpius Traianus. In this
regard, the younger generals® would have been less enthusiastic but
no doubt just as diplomatic. Lappius should be regarded as one of
Domitian’s amici, but, apart from the last few years of the reign, he
would rarely have been present at court, since he was serving abroad
in the emperor’s service.®® On the other hand, after Trajan had
attained the ordinary consulship in 91 at the age of 38, he spent the
rest of the reign as one of Domitian’s most influential courtiers,
apart, possibly, from a term as governor of Pannonia: hence his
comment (SHA, Alex. 65.5) that Domitian had good amiici, even
though he was a bad emperor. Nor should it be forgotten that
Domitian’s and Trajan’s family were apparently related by marriage,
the alliance (Trajan’s father and Domitian’s brother marrying sisters
named Marcia) being contracted some thirty years before the future
emperor’s ordinary consulship in 91.%!

Praetorian prefects

It was the normal practice for the emperor to be escorted by armed
soldiers, members of the praetorian guard.®? Their leader, or prefect,
was the senior equestrian official, and regularly accompanied the
emperor: when Claudius went to Britain in 43/4, Rufrius Pollio went
with him (Dio 60.23.2), just as Tigellinus accompanied Nero on his
tour of Greece (Dio 63.12.3). So, when Domitian wanted to question
the philosopher Apollonius, he immediately turned to Casperius
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Aelianus (Vita Apoll. 7.32). No matter where the court was, the
praetorian prefect (or rather prefects, since the office was collegiate
at this period) was one of its regular features.*

Apparently, L.Julius Ursus and Cornelius Fuscus held the office
early in Domitian’s reign, with Ursus being replaced by L.Laberius
Maximus.** During the civil war, Fuscus had helped to bring the
Illyrian legions over to Vespasian (Hist. 2.86; 3.4) and went on to
command the Ravenna fleet (Hist. 3.12; 3.42). Under Domitian, he
was given control of the Dacian campaign and died fighting (Dom.
6.1; Dio 67.6.6). Laberius, on the other hand, had been financial
procurator of Judaea in 71 and was later in control of the corn
supply; in 80 he was procurator amphitheatri Flaviani and he is
attested as prefect of Egypt on 9 June 83. So one was a soldier, the
other an administrator. Later in the reign, Casperius Aelianus®
commanded the guard, and, if we care to accept the accuracy of
Philostratus’s Life of Apollonius,* we have a fairly detailed account
of conversations between emperor, prefect and philosopher. Dio,
apparently referring to the latter part of the reign, claims that the
emperor ‘usually caused the [praetorian prefects] to be brought to
trial during their very term of office’ (67.14.4). No names (or any
other evidence of this) survive but Aelianus may have been meant,
since he reappears as prefect under Nerva, yet, at the time of the
assassination, Norbanus and T. Petronius Secundus®” were in office.

Traditionally, there had been a close association between the
Flavians and the office of praetorian prefect. Titus had been brought
up at court from the age of 7 or so, no doubt with his military training
provided by Claudius’s prefect Burrus, since he and the emperor’s son
Britannicus shared the same subjects and the same masters (Titus 2).
Once Vespasian was emperor, he appointed Titus praetorian prefect
with another Flavian relative, M.Arrecinus Clemens, as his colleague
for part of the reign—appointments all the more unprecedented since,
for the first time, two senators were assigned to the leading equestrian
post. Clemens, whose father had been Gaius’s prefect (Hist. 4.68),
was not only one of the uncles of Titus’s daughter Julia (as was
Domitian), but also provided the link between L.Julius Ursus and the
Flavians.®® But the prefects appointed by Domitian himself were not
members of the imperial family, though two of them, Aelianus (Vita
Apoll. 7.18) and Cornelius Fuscus (Hist. 2.86), had served Vespasian
loyally during the civil war.

Many accounts of Domitian’s assassination assume the
involvement of the two prefects. But the ancient sources are far less
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specific, and, whilst it would have been logical to acquire their
support, it must be stressed that the ancient authorities are nowhere
near as definite as are some modern ones in declaring that it was
actually obtained.®’

As for Domitian’s praetorian prefects, our conclusions, like our
evidence, must needs be limited. Allowing for the restraints imposed
by the imperial administrative ‘system’ (and their extent should not
be exaggerated), Domitian ensured that his prefects were
sympathetic to his views; they were chosen for specific reasons,
including proven loyalty (Aelianus and Fuscus in 69, Norbanus in
89), and they seem to have been the most reliable of those courtiers
who had closest access to him on a regular basis, if we trust to the
accuracy of Suetonius’s list of imperial assassins (Dom. 17.2). In his
choice of prefects, he differed completely from the policy of
Vespasian and Titus, who obviously felt that family members were
the best candidates, no doubt on the basis that they would be the
most loyal. Domitian had no such illusions and removed from office
a relative appointed by Titus.” For him, an equestrian from Amisus
in Pontus was preferable to a family member.”!

FREEDMEN

Of the residents of the imperial palace, some may possibly have been
the emperor’s amici, though they would have been very few in
number, presumably residing in the palace on a temporary basis only:
those required for the meeting of the consilium described by Juvenal
were summoned from outside and those invited to Domitian’s
Dacian banquet were sent home when it was over (Dio 67.9.1-6).
But the vast majority of those residing at court were his freedmen or
liberti, the familia Caesaris.”

Their ready access to the emperor guaranteed that they would be
influential. Vespasian’s domestici, for example, knew that the most
propitious time to approach him was after his siesta, when he went
to the baths or the dining room (Vesp. 21). As Epictetus put it,
‘tyranny would be more tolerable if the cubicularii did not have to
be approached as well as the emperor’ (1.19.17-18). A good
indicator is the attitude of the court poets. Martial asked the a
cubiculo Parthenius to ensure that Domitian saw his poems (5.6.2)
and thought it politic to remain on good terms with the a libellis
Entellus (so a poem in praise of his gardens: 8.68) as well as with
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Parthenius (another poem, for the fifth birthday of his son Burrus:
4.45). He also mentions (4.8.7) Domitian’s tricliniarchus Euphemus
(PIR* E 118), perhaps a successor of Bucolas (ILS 1567). In fact,
according to him (9.79.5-6), all Domitian’s freedmen were noted
for their calm demeanour and respectful attitude to everybody. He
(7.40) and Statius (Silvae 3.3.1-216) sent their literary respects to
Claudius Etruscus, consoling him on the death of his father,
Domitian’s former a rationibus Tiberius Julius Aug. lib., and both
(Martial 9.11, 12, 13, 16, 36 and Statius Silvae 3.4.1-106) dedicated
works to the imperial eunuch Flavius Earinus. Just as telling is the
tone of Statius’s poem to another freedman, the ab epistulis
Abascantus (Silvae 1.5): unworthy as he was, he tried to deserve
well of those in the sacred palace (domus divina), for one who
worships gods must love his priests (intro.); Abascantus’s duties were
manifold, a burden scarcely tolerable (84), as he had to deal with
every problem that faced his master Domitian, from river heights in
Egypt (99) to the assessment of suitable candidates for military
appointments (95-8).

There were many freedmen, performing an enormous array of
tasks of varying importance, from the underworked praepositus
vestis albae triumphalis (ILS 1763), who had to take charge of the
white robe the emperor wore on triumphal occasions, to those in
charge of the departments of state. Broadly speaking, the latter fell
into two categories,” those dealing with purely domestic matters in
the imperial palaces, villas and gardens (with the procurator
castrensis in charge of financial matters and the a cubiculo
controlling access to the emperor) and those with general
administrative tasks (the a rationibus, ab epistulis and the a libellis
being the most eminent).

By the latter decades of the first century AD, a fairly elaborate
career structure had developed, as can be seen from an examination
of the posts held by Domitian’s procurator castrensis Ti. Claudius
Aug. lib. Bucolas (ILS 1567).”* He began as palace taster
(praegustator), an office once held by the eunuch Halotas in the
reign of Claudius (whom he is said to have poisoned—Claud. 44.2);
then Bucolas became superintendent of the table (¢ricliniarchus),
manager of the imperial gladiatorial games (procurator a
muneribus), supervisor of the aqueducts (proc. aquarum) and
ultimately proc. castrensis. The last two posts, at least, were held
during Domitian’s reign” and his career provides some sort of
indication of the sheer extent of the imperial familia. Domitian even
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used them as political agents, sending some to Britain to urge
Agricola to resign his post (Agr. 40.2, 41.4) and possibly employing
others as spies and couriers.”

Discovering the identity of the senior freedmen poses problems.
The term ab epistulis, for instance, can refer to any member of the
department, including its chief—thus we have an imperial slave
named Libanus described as an ab epistulis but who died at the age
of 16, as well as at least twelve freedmen ab epistulis (to say nothing
of four ab epistulis Latinis and two ab epistulis Graecis) who worked
in the period between Claudius and Hadrian when Narcissus,
Abascantus and Titinius Capito are definitely attested as heads of
the department.”” Libanus obviously did not hold so senior a
position, he was not even a freedman. He and the others merely
worked in that department. So many of the existing lists of senior
imperial freedmen must be approached with caution.”

Domitian’s first financial secretary (a rationibus) was Tiberius
Julius Aug. lib. dismissed early in the reign and exiled.” Not long
after his recall some ten years later, he died at about the age of 90
and Statius’s consolatio (Silvae 3.3.1-216), addressed to the
freedman’s son Claudius Etruscus, provides a useful, if idealized,
version of his career. His replacement as a rationibus may have been
Atticus.’® No other holders of the office are known. A number of
freedmen ab epistulis are attested, but how many of them were
actually the imperial private secretary rather than slave members of
that department cannot be ascertained. Late in the 90s, T.Flavius
Aug. lib. Abascantus®! was in office; he was possibly demoted, but
certainly replaced by the equestrian Titinius Capito,* who retained
the post under Nerva and, for a time, under Trajan. Once again,
Statius is helpful. His poem of consolation (epikeidion) on the death
of Abascantus’s wife Priscilla (Silvae 5.1.1-262) has survived. It is
the only substantial account we have of the duties of an ab epistulis,
and, though more idealized even than the consolatio to Claudius
Etruscus, is nonetheless an invaluable compendium of the varied
tasks that Statius could claim, with some degree of credibility, were
allocated to Domitian’s secretary. In charge of petitions was the a
libellis, a role filled late in the reign by Entellus, who was to be one
of Domitian’s assassins.®> Hermeros®* may well have held the post
before him, but the evidence is not at all convincing and no others
(unless we include Epaphroditus) are attested.®® Apart from these
officials, the only other senior administrative freedmen who may
have held posts in the period 81 to 96 were T.Flavius Aug. lib.
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Abascantus and Astectus Aug. lib., both described as a
cognitionibus;* the equestrian Titinius Capito served both as ab
epistulis of Domitian and as a patrimonio,®” but no freedmen holders
of the latter office are known.

On Domitian’s accession, Tiberius Claudius Aug. lib. Classicus®®
was in charge of the imperial domestic budget (procurator castrensis)
and was promptly dismissed, with Bucolas (ILS 1567) as his probable
successor; no other incumbents are known. Classicus was also imperial
chamberlain or a cubiculo. We have no hint of his replacement in this
role, but, by the end of the reign, the post had been assigned to
Parthenius, with Siger(i)us® as one of his assistants (cubicularius); both
were actively involved in Domitian’s assassination.

The Historia Augusta’s statement that it was Hadrian who first
used equestrians as a libellis and ab epistulis has long been
discredited. The innovation occurred far earlier, perhaps under
Claudius® and certainly under Vitellius, for which there is both
literary (Hist. 1.58) and epigraphic (ILS 1447) evidence. But this
was a temporary expedient, decided on during the crisis of civil war.
Domitian went further. According to Suetonius, he ‘shared certain
of the chief officia between libertini and Roman Equites’ (7.2).
The reference is not to the immediate creation of an entire equestrian
bureaucratic class, headed by equestrians with administrative
experience; rather that, in some instances, departmental heads were
not chosen from freedmen but were now ‘intellectuals from the Latin
world’.”? Suetonius himself is as good an example as any of such an
appointment. His career was military in name only, as was that of
Domitian’s last ab epistulis, the equestrian Titinius Capito. His
‘military’ career stands in direct contrast with that of Vitellius’s
equestrian a libellis, Sex. Caesius Propertianus, described as 7. mil.
IIII Macedonic., praef. cob. III His(pa)nor. (ILS 1447). Titinius
appears merely as praef. cobortis trib. milit. (ILS 1448); no units are
named, an unusual omission suggesting that the posts were assigned
to him honoris causa. He was an intellectual, a poet and a scholar,
and appointed for those very qualities.”® The innovation, as far as
can be determined from what Suetonius says, was a deliberate shift
in imperial policy and not a temporary expedient.

However, this may not have been so, given the circumstances of
Titinius’s appointment quite late in the reign. In a recent
examination® of Statius’s Silvae 5.1, it has been argued that T.
Flavius Aug. lib. Abascantus was still ab epistulis near the end of 95
when Statius wrote the epikeidion for the death of his wife Priscilla
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and that he was not dismissed but demoted to the post of a
cognitionibus. That idea had been rejected” on the grounds that the
Abascantus described as a cognitionibus (ILS 1679) was married to
a Flavia Hesperis, whereas the ab epistulis’s wife was Priscilla. But
Statius describes Abascantus as invenis (5.1.247), so it would not be
unreasonable to suggest that he remarried after Priscilla’s death and
his own demotion.”® At all events, demoted or dismissed, he was
replaced at about the time when Domitian’s relationship with his
senior freedmen had deteriorated—‘in order to convince his
domestici that no one should dare to kill a patron, even on good
grounds, he condemned to death the a libellis Epaphroditus’ (Dom.
14.4). Epaphroditus had served as a libellis to Nero, took part in
exposing the Pisonian conspiracy in 65 (Ann. 15.55), helped Nero
commit suicide (Dio 63.27.3; Nero 49.3) and was exiled by
Domitian, perhaps c. 93; the date of his death is fixed by Suetonius,
since, in the next section (15.1), he refers to the execution of Flavius
Clemens, ordinary consul in January 95. So Abascantus’s demotion
or dismissal may have been part of a wider problem, the
dissatisfaction Domitian felt with his senior freedmen. It was in these
circumstances that he turned to an equestrian ab epistulis.

It would seem that senators and equestrians who had held
administrative posts in Titus’s reign were, without exception,
confirmed in their appointments by Domitian. Not so the imperial
freedmen. Titus’s domestici were promptly dismissed, as the evidence
indicates clearly; in particular, a much disputed passage of Dio
Cassius can be interpreted as supporting that view.””

Domitian quite outdid himself in visiting disgrace and ruin on
the friends [philoi] of his father and brother,...for he regarded
as his enemy anyone who had enjoyed his father’s or his
brother’s affection beyond the ordinary or had been
particularly influential. Accordingly, although he himself
entertained a passion for a eunuch named Earinus,
nevertheless, since Titus had also shown a great fondness for
eunuchs, in order to insult his memory, he ordered that no
person in the Roman empire should thereafter be castrated.
(67.2.1-3)

Of all the possible philoi, Dio selected neither a senator (possibly
Agricola®®) nor an equestrian (possibly Casperius Aelianus®). He
looked not to amici in a narrow sense, but to a broader group,
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members of the imperial court, the domestici—in particular, the
eunuchs. Dio, then, may well not have used the word philoi in the
sense of the Latin amici. Moreover, some hundred years before Dio
wrote, Suetonius had already argued that Titus’s amici were employed
by subsequent emperors (Titus 7.2). In the absence of other criteria, a
contemporary source should be preferred, and at least one later writer
also seems to confuse the words domestici and amici. According to
Suetonius, when Titus’s domestici informed him that he could not
possibly make good his promises, they were told that no one should
leave an interview disappointed (8.2); on another occasion, at a dinner-
party following a day during which he had not conferred any favour,
he is supposed to have uttered the famous remark ‘Amici, I have
wasted a day’ (8.2). Eutropius repeats both anecdotes, but, in his
version, it is the amici who are told that no one should leave
disappointed (7.21.3). Perhaps it is hazardous to place too much
emphasis on Dio’s use of philoi and Eutropius’s of amici. On the other
hand, Dio does not seem to be referring to amici in the strict sense of
the word, but